On Galilean conformal bootstrap

Bin Chen^{1,2,3}, Peng-xiang Hao⁴, Reiko Liu¹ and Zhe-fei Yu^{1*}

¹School of Physics and State Key Laboratory of Nuclear Physics and Technology, Peking University, No.5 Yiheyuan Rd, Beijing 100871, P. R. China

²Collaborative Innovation Center of Quantum Matter, No.5 Yiheyuan Rd, Beijing 100871, P. R. China

³Center for High Energy Physics, Peking University, No.5 Yiheyuan Rd, Beijing 100871, P. R. China

⁴Yau Mathematical Sciences Center, Tsinghua University, Beijing, 100084, China

Abstract

In this work, we develop conformal bootstrap for Galilean conformal field theory (GCFT). In a GCFT, the Hilbert space could be decomposed into quasiprimary states and its global descendants. Different from the usual conformal field theory, the quasi-primary states in a GCFT constitute multiplets, which are block-diagonized under the Galilean boost operator. More importantly the multiplets include the states of negative norms, indicating the theory is not unitary. We compute global blocks of the multiplets, and discuss the expansion of four-point functions in terms of the global blocks of the multiplets. Furthermore we do the harmonic analysis for the Galilean conformal bootstrap, we construct generalized Galilean free theory (GGFT) explicitly. We read the data of GGFT by using Taylor series expansion of four-point function and the inversion formula independently, and find exact agreement. We discuss some novel features in the Galilean conformal bootstrap, due to the non-semisimpleness of the Galilean conformal algebra and the non-unitarity of the GCFTs.

^{*}bchen01@pku.edu.cn, pxhao@tsinghua.edu.cn, reiko_liu@pku.edu.cn, yuzhefei@pku.edu.cn

Contents

1	Introduction				
2	GCA revisited: multiplets				
	2.1	Review on Galilean CFT	7		
		2.1.1 Galilean conformal symmetry	7		
		2.1.2 Primary operators	8		
		2.1.3 Global blocks of primary operator	9		
	2.2	Multiplets	10		
	2.3	Fermionic operators	14		
3	Harmonic analysis				
	3.1	Overview of harmonic analysis	15		
	3.2	Harmonic analysis on GCA	16		
	3.3	Read Data from Inversion	24		
	3.4	Limiting Analysis	27		
4	Generalized Galilean Free Field Theories				
	4.1	GGFTs from operator construction	32		
	4.2	Radial coordinates in Galilean CFT	35		
	4.3	Taylor series expansion of four-point functions	36		
	4.4	Inversion function of GGFT	37		
	4.5	Branch cut of inversion function	39		
	4.6	Limit for GGFT	42		
5	Tau	berian theorem and the spectral density	44		
6	Sha	dow formalism and alpha space approach	47		
	6.1	Shadow formalism of GCFT	47		
	6.2	Alpha space approach to GCFT	50		
7	7 Conclusion and Discussions				
A	A Review of LCFTs				
в	3 Details on the multiplets in GCFTs				
С	C Number of the operators in GGFT				

D	Proof of the cancelation in section 4.6	64
\mathbf{E}	Check the spectral density of GGFTs	67

1 Introduction

Conformal bootstrap is a nonperturbative program to constrain or even read the spectrum and operator product expansion (OPE) coefficients of a conformal field theory(CFT) by imposing the conformal symmetry, unitarity and the crossing symmetry. It was first proposed in 1970s [1, 2] and was applied to solve the two-dimensional (2d) minimal models successfully in [3]. In the past decade, conformal bootstrap has been revived, starting from the seminal work of [4]. In this work, a numerical method has been proposed to extract the rigorous predictions from the conformal bootstrap equations without fully solving them. The method has been applied to study many models in various dimensions, for instance yielding precise critical exponents of the critical 3d Ising model [5, 6]. For a review on the conformal bootstrap, especially the numerical techniques, see [7].

Besides the numerical method, analytic approaches have been developed in modern conformal bootstrap. These analytic approaches include the large spin perturbation theory [8, 9, 10, 11, 12], holography from CFT [13, 14, 15, 16], Lorentzian inversion formula [17, 18], analytic functional method [19, 20, 21, 22, 23], etc.. The analytic studies not only help us to improve the numerical method, but also shed light on the AdS/CFT correspondence and the S-matrix bootstrap.

The usual conformal bootstrap is based on the conformal invariance and unitarity. It would be interesting to extend the program to field theories with other conformal-like symmetry. For example, conformal bootstrap has been studied in theories with Schrödinger symmetry in [24] and in Logarithmic conformal field theories (LCFTs) [25]. In the present work, we would like to study the conformal bootstrap on non-relativistic field theories with Galilean conformal invariance. The global part of the symmetry could be obtained by a non-relativistic contraction of the conformal algebra [26, 27], and it contains the translations, the isotropic scaling, the analogues of special conformal transformations and the Galilean symmetries instead of the Lorentzian symmetries. Quite remarkably, it was found in [28] that the Galilean conformal symmetry in any dimension is actually much larger and is generated by an infinite-dimensional Galilean Conformal Algebra (GCA), which can be obtained by taking the non-relativistic limit of conformal Killing equations and is shown to be the maximal subset of non-relativistic conformal isometries [29, 30]. In two dimensions the generators of GCA obey the following commutation relations

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n - m)L_{n+m} + c_L \delta_{n+m,0} (n^3 - n),$$

$$[L_n, M_m] = (n - m)M_{n+m} + c_M \delta_{n+m,0} (n^3 - n),$$

$$[M_n, M_m] = 0.$$
(1.1)

The 2d Galilean conformal field theory(GCFT) is of particular interest, as 2d GCA is iso-

morphic to the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs (BMS) algebra in three dimensions, which generates the asymptotic symmetries of 3d flat spacetimes [31]. This motivates a lot of works establishing holography theory in asymptotic flat spacetimes (the so called BMS/GCA correspondence), see [32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40]. In this paper, we will focus on 2d GCFT.

One typical feature in GCFT is that there are descendant states with negative norms. This fact suggests that GCFTs are not unitary. Even though the usual (both numerical and analytical) conformal bootstrap relies heavily on the unitarity, it does not mean the bootstrap program can not be carried on in theories without unitarity¹. The essential requirement is that the block coefficients must be positive. The existence of the negative-norm states may not be fatal. At technical level, as noted in [42], the Galilean boost operator M_0 is in general not diagonalizable when acts on the descendant states. This indicates that the theory is not unitary. Just like in LCFTs [43], multiplets appear. When we try to expand four-point functions in terms of GCA global blocks, in addition to the blocks of singlets calculated in [44], we have to count the contributions from the global blocks corresponding to these multiplets. We discuss the multiplets in GCFT and compute their global blocks.

Motivated by the Lorentzian inversion formula [17] for analytic conformal bootstrap, we do harmonic analysis for the global part of Galilean conformal symmetry, thus obtain a GCA inversion formula, which can be used to compute the spectrum and OPE coefficients. It turns out that the harmonic analysis in GCA is quite similar to the one for CFT_1 [45, 46]. Our result of harmonic analysis is new mathematically because the algebra considered here is not semi-simple, while the conformal algebra is.

In order to check our study, we discuss the generalized free theory with Galilean conformal symmetry. The generalized free theories (GFTs) play an important role in conformal bootstrap. They provide the simplest examples of crossing-symmetric, conformally-invariant four-point functions. Their spectrum and OPE coefficients can be read off from the inversion formula [47, 48]. Moreover, if one test the crossing condition in some specific regions², for example, in the lightcone limit for CFT, GFTs are the leading contribution to the correlators at large spin [9]. Furthermore GFTs provides the leading contribution to the correlators in bulk perturbation theory, from holographic point of view [13]. In the Galilean case at hand, the study of generalized Galilean free theories (GGFTs) is the first step towards the analytic Galilean conformal bootstrap. We expect that GGFTs will play similar roles as GFTs have played in the usual conformal bootstrap.

In fact, there have been some earlier efforts towards 2d Galilean conformal bootstrap. In

¹There are a few numerical [7] and (analytical) Polyakov-Mellin [41] bootstrap results for non-unitary CFTs.

 $^{^{2}}$ These regions are always the ones where conformal blocks expansion of a four-point function is not convergent uniformly, this is also true for GCFTs.

[49, 44], the crossing equation for four-point functions and the global GCA blocks for the singlets have been worked out. It was found that these kinematic quantities could be reproduced by taking non-relativistic limit of the corresponding ones in 2d (non-unitary) relativistic CFTs. It is tempting to think that other kinematic quantities in Galilean conformal bootstrap could be obtained by taking non-relativistic limit of parent CFTs. Our study shows that this is not always true³. For example, as we will show in section 3, the Galilean conformal partial waves (GCPWs) can not be obtained by the limiting procedure, even though the inner product measure and the Casimir operators can be read by taking the limit, as there are subtleties in defining the Hilbert space. On the contrast, the GGFT can be reproduced by taking the limit on a 2d generalized free theory(GFT).

The remaining parts of this paper are organized as follows. In section 2, we revisit the block expansion of a four-point function in GCFTs, paying special attention to the contribution from the multiplets. In section 3, we do the harmonic analysis for the global GCA. Following the analysis in $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ [45], we specify the Hilbert space and determine the Galilean conformal partial waves (GCPWs) as its complete orthogonal basis. Then we get an inversion formula and find that the blocks of the multiplets should appear as multiple poles in the inversion function. We also find that the limiting method is invalid to get the GCPWs. In section 4, we analyze the GGFTs from several different angles. Firstly, we construct the rank-2 multiplet directly from the level-1 quasiprimary operators in GGFT with two fundamental fields, and calculate its global block. This method show explicitly the forms of the "double-trace"⁴ operators in GGFT, but the construction becomes awkward at higher levels. In order to get the information of GGFT, it is more effective to use other ways. One way is to expand the four-point function into a double Taylor series and read the coefficients of the block expansion directly. The other way is to apply the GCA inversion formula obtained in section 3 to GGFTs. The result of these two methods match perfectly, and expectedly both match with the level-1 result from the constructive method. Moreover It turns out that GGFT could be obtained by taking the non-relativistic limit of a 2d GFT. Especially, the multiplets appear in a remarkable way as all superficially divergent terms under the limit cancel with each other. In section 5, we go beyond GGFTs and discuss the spectral density of a GCFT. We use the Hardy-Littlewood tauberian theorem to estimate the spectral density, and we check explicitly that the GGFTs satisfy the requirement of using the theorem. In Section 6, we discuss the shadow formalism and alpha space approach [50], and find that with appropriate boundary condition the "CPWs" in alpha space turns out to be the one obtained by shadow integral. We end with conclusions and some

³Note that in [42], the constraint from the GCA analysis on the fusion rules is weaker than that from the limiting procedure of 2d CFTs.

⁴We borrow the terminology "double-trace" in CFT here.

discussions in section 7. Some technical details are left to Appendix.

2 GCA revisited: multiplets

In this section, we revisit Galilean conformal field theory in two dimensional spacetime (GCFT₂). After a brief review on the basic knowledge on GCFT, including the symmetry, the primary operators and their two-point and three-point functions [51, 42, 49, 44], we turn to the quasi-primary operators which are essential in the global Galilean conformal bootstrap. We find that the quasi-primary operators typically form multiplets ⁵, which include negative-norm states and cannot be diagonalized under Galilean boost charge operator. We discuss the multi-point functions of multiplets and their global blocks.

2.1 Review on Galilean CFT

2.1.1 Galilean conformal symmetry

 $GCFT_2$ is a non-relativistic field theory in 2d spacetime. It has the scaling symmetry and the boost symmetry as follows,

$$x \to \lambda x, \qquad y \to \lambda y.$$
 (2.1)

$$x \to x, \qquad y \to y + vx.$$
 (2.2)

The local Galilean conformal algebra is generated by $L_n, M_m (n, m \in \mathbb{Z})$,

symmetry	label	generator	finite transform
$\operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{R}^1)$	L_n	$-x^{n+1}\partial_x - (n+1)x^n y \partial_y$	$\begin{aligned} x' &= f(x) \\ y' &= f'(x)y \end{aligned}$
affine translations	M_n	$x^{n+1}\partial_y$	$\begin{array}{l} x' = x\\ y' = y + g(x) \end{array}$

and after considering the central extension, the commutation relations are

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n - m)L_{n+m} + c_L n(n^2 - 1)\delta_{n+m,0},$$

$$[L_n, M_m] = (n - m)M_{n+m} + c_M n(n^2 - 1)\delta_{n+m,0},$$

$$[M_n, M_m] = 0.$$

Analogous to $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ in the full Virasoro algebra, there is a maximal finite dimensional subalgebra $\mathfrak{g} \cong \mathfrak{iso}(2,1)$ corresponding to global Galilean conformal symmetry. The subalgebra is generated by $L_i \in \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ and $M_i \in \mathbb{R}^3$, with $i = \pm 1, 0$. In Table 1, we list the representations of the generators and the corresponding finite transformations.

 $^{^{5}}$ Since similar structure of multiplets appears in Logarithmic CFT, we review the multiplets in LCFT in appendix A. In fact, our analysis of multiplets in GCFT is inspired from the one in LCFT.

name	label	vector field	finite trans
<i>x</i> -translation	L_{-1}	$-\partial_x$	$\begin{aligned} x' &= x + a \\ y' &= y \end{aligned}$
dilation	L_0	$-x\partial_x - y\partial_y$	$\begin{aligned} x' &= \lambda x \\ y' &= \lambda y \end{aligned}$
x-SCT	L_1	$-x^2\partial_x - 2xy\partial_y$	$x' = x/(1 + \mu x)$ $y' = y/(1 + \mu x)^2$
y-translation	M_{-1}	∂_y	$\begin{aligned} x' &= x\\ y' &= y + b \end{aligned}$
boost	M_0	$x\partial_y$	$\begin{aligned} x' &= x \\ y' &= y + v x \end{aligned}$
y-SCT	M_1	$x^2 \partial_y$	$\begin{aligned} x' &= x \\ y' &= y + \nu x^2 \end{aligned}$

Table 1: The generators of global Galilean conformal group. "SCT" denotes "special conformal transformation"

2.1.2 Primary operators

The primary operators⁶ at origin $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}(0,0)$ can be labelled by the eigenvalues (Δ,ξ) of (L_0, M_0)

$$[L_0, \mathcal{O}] = \Delta \mathcal{O}, \qquad [M_0, \mathcal{O}] = \xi \mathcal{O}.$$
(2.3)

 Δ and ξ are referred to as the conformal weight and the boost charge of the operator respectively. The highest weight conditions are

$$[L_n, \mathcal{O}] = 0, \qquad [M_n, \mathcal{O}] = 0, \qquad n > 0.$$
 (2.4)

Then the descendant operators can be generated by acting L_{-n} , M_{-n} with n > 0 successively on the primary operators. And the primary operator together with its descendants form a highest weight module.

The operators at other positions can be got by the translation operator $U = e^{xL_{-1}-yM_{-1}}$,

$$\mathcal{O}(x,y) = U\mathcal{O}(0,0)U^{-1}.$$
(2.5)

Using the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff (BCH) formula, the transformation law for the primary operators are,

$$[L_n, \mathcal{O}(x, y)] = (x^{n+1}\partial_x + (n+1)x^n y \partial_y + (n+1)(x^n \Delta - nx^{n-1}y\xi))\mathcal{O}(x, y),$$
(2.6)

$$[M_n, \mathcal{O}(x, y)] = (-x^{n+1}\partial_y + (n+1)x^n\xi)\mathcal{O}(x, y),$$
(2.7)

⁶By the state-operator correspondence we can talk about local operators and states interchangeably.

and they can be integrated to finite one,

$$\mathcal{O}'(x,y) = |f'|^{\Delta} e^{-\xi \frac{g'+yf''}{f'}} \mathcal{O}(x',y').$$
(2.8)

By requiring the vacuum is invariant under the global symmetry, the two-point function and three-point function of primary operators are respectively

$$G_2(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2) = d \,\delta_{\Delta_1, \Delta_2} \delta_{\xi_1, \xi_2} |x_{12}|^{-2\Delta_1} e^{2\xi_1 \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}}}, \tag{2.9}$$

$$G_{3}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, y_{1}, y_{2}, y_{3}) = c_{123}|x_{12}|^{-\Delta_{123}}|x_{23}|^{-\Delta_{231}}|x_{31}|^{-\Delta_{312}}e^{\xi_{123}\frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}}}e^{\xi_{312}\frac{y_{31}}{x_{31}}}e^{\xi_{231}\frac{y_{23}}{x_{23}}}, \quad (2.10)$$

where d is the normalization factor of the two-point function, c_{123} is the coefficient of threepoint function which encodes dynamical information of the GCFT₂, and

$$x_{ij} \equiv x_i - x_j, \quad y_{ij} \equiv y_i - y_j, \quad \Delta_{ijk} \equiv \Delta_i + \Delta_j - \Delta_k, \quad \xi_{ijk} \equiv \xi_i + \xi_j - \xi_k.$$
(2.11)

The four-point functions of primary operators can be determined up to an arbitrary function of cross ratios,

$$G_4 = \langle \prod_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{O}_i(x_i, y_i) \rangle = \prod_{i,j} |x_{ij}|^{\sum_{k=1}^4 -\Delta_{ijk}/3} e^{\frac{y_{ij}}{x_{ij}} \sum_{k=1}^4 \xi_{ijk}/3} \mathcal{G}(x, y)$$
(2.12)

where the indices i = 1, 2, 3, 4 label the external operators \mathcal{O}_i , $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$ is called the stripped four-point function and x and y are the cross ratios,

$$x \equiv \frac{x_{12}x_{34}}{x_{13}x_{24}} \qquad \frac{y}{x} \equiv \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}} + \frac{y_{34}}{x_{34}} - \frac{y_{13}}{x_{13}} - \frac{y_{24}}{x_{24}}.$$
 (2.13)

2.1.3 Global blocks of primary operator

For simplicity, in the following we mainly focus on the case of four identical external operators with (Δ, ξ) . In principle, the stripped four-point function $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$ can be expressed in terms of the OPE coefficients of primary operators and local Galilean conformal block. The local Galilean conformal block encodes all the contribution from a primary module. Unfortunately its form and properties has not been well-studied, as far as we know. In this work, we try to study the bootstrap based on global Galilean conformal symmetry.

The contribution of a primary operator and its global descendant operators (which can be got by acting L_{-1} and M_{-1}) to the stripped four-point function $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$ can be written as

$$\frac{1}{d}c_{12p}c_{34p}g_p(x,y) \tag{2.14}$$

where the index p labels the propagating primary operator \mathcal{O}_p . The function $g_p(x, y)$ is related to the global block $g_{\Delta_p,\xi_p}(x, y)$ by

$$g_p(x,y) = x^{2\Delta} e^{-2\xi \frac{y}{x}} g_{\Delta_p,\xi_p}(x,y)$$
(2.15)

The global block is the solution of the conformal Casimir equations with the OPE boundary conditions [49, 44]

$$C_i g_{\Delta_p,\xi_p}(x,y) = \lambda_i g_{\Delta_p,\xi_p}(x,y), \quad i = 1,2$$

$$(2.16)$$

where

$$C_1 = M_0^2 - M_1 M_{-1},$$

$$C_2 = 4L_0 M_0 - L_{-1} M_1 - L_1 M_{-1} - M_1 L_{-1} - M_{-1} L_1.$$
(2.17)

The eigenfunction $g_{\Delta_p,\xi_p}(x,y)$ giving the global block of primary operators takes the form

$$g_{\Delta_p,\xi_p}(x,y) = 2^{2\Delta_p - 2} x^{\Delta_p - 2\Delta} (1 + \sqrt{1-x})^{2-2\Delta_p} e^{\frac{-\xi_p y}{x\sqrt{1-x}} + 2\xi \frac{y}{x}} (1-x)^{-1/2}, \qquad (2.18)$$

and the corresponding eigenvalues λ_i are

$$\lambda_1 = \xi_p^2, \quad \lambda_2 = 2\xi_p(\Delta_p - 1).$$
 (2.19)

In this paper, we only concern about Galilean conformal field theories that do not have $\xi = 0$ operators in their spectrum. The special case of $\xi = 0$ is very different and subtle. Even in this case, there exists the multiplets as well, and when the propagating operators have $\xi = 0$ the corresponding singlet blocks are just the usual $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ conformal blocks, but the multiplets blocks are quite different, which have non-trivial y dependence. The following discussion will not involve this subtlety, though it is certainly very important⁷. We leave a thorough discussion on this degenerate case for a future project[53].

2.2 Multiplets

The Hilbert space of a GCFT can be decomposed into the highest weight modules of local GCA

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{\Delta,\xi} \mathcal{H}_{\Delta,\xi}.$$

However it is hard to find all the contribution of a module to the stripped four-point function due to its complicated structure. Alternatively we can examine the usage of global GCA in Galilean CFT in the spirit of modern conformal bootstrap. With respect to the global GCA, the Hilbert space is composed of the quasi-primary states and their global descendants. This way is more under control and is related closely to the harmonic analysis and the inversion formula. However, the price we pay in this way is that M_0 usually acts non-diagonally on these quasi-primary operators, though L_0, M_0 act diagonally on the primary operators.

⁷For example, see the discussion of BMS free scalar [52].

As an illustration, consider the following level-2 descendant operators of a primary operator $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta,\xi}$,

$$\mathcal{A} = L_{-2}\mathcal{O}, \quad \mathcal{B} = M_{-2}\mathcal{O}. \tag{2.20}$$

on which M_0 acts as

$$[M_0, \mathcal{A}] = \xi \mathcal{A} + 2\mathcal{B}, \quad [M_0, \mathcal{B}] = \xi \mathcal{B}.$$
(2.21)

This gives rise to a rank-2 Jordan block. Generically, the action of M_0 on quasi-primary operators can be written in the Jordan canonical form,

$$[M_0, \mathcal{O}] = \tilde{\xi}\mathcal{O} \tag{2.22}$$

where \mathcal{O} are quasi-primary operators in the theory, and $\tilde{\xi}$ is block-diagonalized,

$$\tilde{\xi} = \begin{pmatrix} \ddots & & & \\ & \tilde{\xi}_i & & \\ & & \tilde{\xi}_j & \\ & & & \ddots \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.23)

in which $\tilde{\xi}_i$ are Jordan blocks,

$$\tilde{\xi}_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{i} & & \\ 1 & \xi_{i} & & \\ & \ddots & \ddots & \\ & & 1 & \xi_{i} \end{pmatrix}_{r \times r}$$
(2.24)

The quasi-primary operators in the same Jordan block form a multiplet⁸. The quasi-primary operators in a multiplet, together with their global descendants, compose a reducible but indecomposable module of global GCA. If there are r operators related to each other in a Jordan block, the multiplet they form will be referred to as of rank r, the same as the rank of the Jordan block. The above two operators \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} form a multiplet of rank 2, and the primary operators introduced in previous subsections will be referred to as singlets or rank-1 multiplets.

In the following, we will discuss correlation functions of multiplets. Though there are some differences, our calculation of correlation functions follows the one in LCFT. To make this part more readable, we will not show all the details of the calculation in the subsection here. Instead, we set the details in appendix B. Since these details closely follow the analysis of LCFT, we also give a review on multiplets in LCFT in appendix A.

 $^{^{8}}$ The situation is somehow similar to what happens in a logarithmic CFTs. Our analysis actually bases on the techniques developed in [54, 55, 43].

In GCFT the correlation functions of multiplets differ from the ones of singlet, since the action of M_0 on the operators changes. Now the transformation under M_n is

$$[M_n, \mathcal{O}_a(x, y)] = (-\delta_{a,b} x^{n+1} \partial_y + (n+1) x^n \tilde{\xi}) \mathcal{O}_b(x, y), \quad \text{for } n \ge 0$$
(2.25)

$$[M_{-1}, \mathcal{O}_a(x, y)] = -\partial_y \mathcal{O}_a(x, y).$$
(2.26)

The two-point functions $\langle \mathcal{O}_a \mathcal{O}_b \rangle$, where \mathcal{O}_a and \mathcal{O}_b belong to the same rank-*r* multiplet⁹ with (Δ, ξ) , can be determined by the Ward identities with respect to global symmetries,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_a(x_1, y_1) \mathcal{O}_b(x_2, y_2) \rangle = |x_{12}|^{-2\Delta} e^{2\xi y_{12}/x_{12}} A_{ab}(x_{12}, y_{12})$$
 (2.27)

where $A_{ab}(x_{12}, y_{12})$ is the following matrix,

$$A_{ab}(x_{12}, y_{12}) = \sum_{k=0}^{r-a-b} f_{k+a+b} \frac{1}{k!} (\frac{2y_{12}}{x_{12}})^k$$
(2.28)

with f_{k+a+b} being undetermined coefficients. One can always set A_{ab} to a triangular matrix, by re-defining the operators in the multiplet, which eliminates r degrees of freedom. This simplifies the two-point functions into the following canonical form,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{k_1}(x_1, y_1) \mathcal{O}_{k_2}(x_2, y_2) \rangle = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } q < 0\\ d_r |x_{12}|^{-2\Delta_1} e^{2\xi_1 \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}}} \frac{1}{q!} \left(\frac{2y_{12}}{x_{12}}\right)^q, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.29)

where

$$q = k_1 + k_2 + 1 - r, (2.30)$$

and d_r is the overall normalization of this rank-*r* multiplet. Here we denote \mathcal{O}_{k_i} $(k_i = 0, \dots, r-1)$ as the $(k_i + 1)$ -th operator in the multiplet.¹⁰

The three-point functions involving multiplets can also be determined by the Ward identities. Their general forms are given by,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i \mathcal{O}_j \mathcal{O}_k \rangle = A_{ijk} B_{ijk} C_{ijk} \tag{2.31}$$

where

$$A_{ijk} = \exp\left(\xi_{123}\frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}} + \xi_{312}\frac{y_{31}}{x_{31}} + \xi_{231}\frac{y_{23}}{x_{23}}\right), \qquad (2.32)$$

$$B_{ijk} = |x_{12}|^{-\Delta_{123}} |x_{23}|^{-\Delta_{231}} |x_{31}|^{-\Delta_{312}}, \qquad (2.33)$$

$$C_{ijk} = \sum_{a=0}^{r_1-1} \sum_{b=0}^{r_2-1} \sum_{c=0}^{r_3-1} c_{ijk}^{(abc)} \frac{(q_i)^a (q_j)^b (q_k)^c}{a!b!c!},$$
(2.34)

⁹When two operators belong to different multiplets, their two-point function is vanishing.

¹⁰The two-point functions of the rank-2 case has also been discussed in [56].

with

$$q_i = \partial_{\xi_i} \ln A_{ijk}. \tag{2.35}$$

Note that $\mathcal{O}_i, \mathcal{O}_j, \mathcal{O}_k$ can belong to different multiplets of rank r_1, r_2, r_3 respectively. The coefficient $c_{ijk}^{(abc)}$ encodes the dynamical information of the theory. For the case $r_1 = r_2 = r_3 = 1$, the three-point function reduces to (2.10). Another simple example is when $r_1 = r_2 = 1, r_3 = 2$, then

$$\langle \mathcal{OOO}_0 \rangle = ABc_0,$$

 $\langle \mathcal{OOO}_1 \rangle = AB(c_1 + c_0 q_3)$ (2.36)

where \mathcal{O} is a primary operator, $\mathcal{O}_0, \mathcal{O}_1$ belong to a rank-2 multiplet, and $q_3 = \partial_{\xi_3} A$ with ξ_3 being the charge of \mathcal{O}_0 . Here are two independent dynamical three-point coefficients. In general, for the three-point function of *singlet-singlet-multiplet*, we have

$$\langle \mathcal{OOO}_0 \rangle = ABc_0,$$

$$\langle \mathcal{OOO}_{k_i} \rangle = \partial_{\xi_3} \langle \mathcal{OOO}_{k_i-1} \rangle + ABc_{k_i}, \quad k_i = 1, \dots r - 1,$$
 (2.37)

where ξ_3 is the charge of \mathcal{O}_0 . For a rank-*r* multiplet, there are *r* coefficients c_0, \dots, c_{r-1} .

Now let us turn to the four-point functions. In the following discussion, we focus on the case where the four external operators are identical singlet. One can insert the identity operator

$$1 = \text{Tr}_{\text{all operators}} \frac{|\mathcal{O}_p\rangle \langle \mathcal{O}_p|}{\langle \mathcal{O}_p | \mathcal{O}_p \rangle}$$
(2.38)

into the four-point functions

$$G_4 = \operatorname{Tr}_{\text{all operators}} \left(\frac{\langle \mathcal{O} \mathcal{O} \mathcal{O}_p \rangle \langle \mathcal{O}_p \mathcal{O} \mathcal{O} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{O}_p | \mathcal{O}_p \rangle} \right)$$
(2.39)

We can get the global block expansion by collecting the contribution of each multiplet of quasi-primary operators and their global descendants.

$$G_4 = \sum_p \sum_{i,j} T_{ij} \langle \mathcal{OOO}_{p,i} \rangle \langle \mathcal{O}_{p,j} \mathcal{OO} \rangle$$
(2.40)

where $\mathcal{O}_{p,i}$ is the (i+1)-th operator in the rank-r multiplet labelled by p and T_{ij} is the inverse of the Gram matrix $\langle \mathcal{O}_p | \mathcal{O}_p \rangle$ (which is a right-lower triangular matrix).

Different from the case of a singlet, the global block of a multiplet is not the eigenfunction of the Casimir operators. Instead, the Casimir operators act on the multiplet as follows,

$$(C_i - \lambda_i)^r |\mathcal{O}_{r,k_i}\rangle = 0.$$
(2.41)

This is also true for its global descendant operators. The stripped four-point functions can be expanded into

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \sum_{\mathcal{O}_r} \frac{1}{d_r} f[\mathcal{O}_r], \qquad (2.42)$$

where the propagating quasi-primary operator \mathcal{O}_r is a rank-*r* multiplet with an overall normalization d_r , and $f[\mathcal{O}_r]$ satisfy the following Casimir equations

$$(C_i - \lambda_i)^r f[\mathcal{O}_r] = 0, \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
 (2.43)

The general solution is

$$f[\mathcal{O}_r] = \sum_{s=0}^{r-1} A_s g^{(s)}_{\Delta_r,\xi_r}.$$
 (2.44)

Here $g_{\Delta_r,\xi_r}^{(s)}$, $s = 0, \dots, r-1$ make up the global block (up to the square of the two-point function of the external operators) for the multiplet,

$$g_{\Delta_r,\xi_r}^{(s)} = \partial_{\xi_r}^s g_{\Delta_r,\xi_r}^{(0)} \tag{2.45}$$

where $g_{\Delta_r,\xi_r}^{(0)}$ takes the form as $g_p(x,y)$ in (2.15). To get the coefficients A_s in (2.44), one need to consider the OPE limit of the global blocks by expanding them around x = 0, y = 0. Using the three-point functions in (2.37), one gets the following coefficients A_s ,

$$A_s = \frac{1}{s!} \sum_{a,b|a+b+s+1=r} c_a c_b,$$
(2.46)

where c_a 's are the three-point coefficients in (2.37). The global block expansion of the stripped four-point function in GCFT is

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \sum_{\mathcal{O}_r,\xi_r} \frac{1}{d_r} \sum_{s=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{s!} \sum_{a,b|a+b+s+1=r} c_a c_b \partial_{\xi_r}^s g^{(0)}_{\Delta_r,\xi_r}.$$
(2.47)

2.3 Fermionic operators

The quasiprimary operators we have introduced obey bosonic statistics as the ones in 1d CFT, and the correlation functions contains no sign functions. As in CFT_1 , one may define fermionic operators. For fermionic operators we need to add sign functions into the finite transforms.

To be motivated, recall that in 1d CFT the conformal group is $SO(2,1) \cong PSL(2,\mathbb{R}) =$ $SL(2,\mathbb{R})/\{\pm 1\}$, and to get fermionic representations we lift it to the double covering group $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$. Then the finite transformation of fermionic operators is,

$$\mathcal{O}'(x) = \operatorname{sign}^{r}(cx+d)|cx+d|^{-2\Delta}\mathcal{O}(x')$$
(2.48)

where r = 0 for bosons and r = 1 for fermions, and x transforms as $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$

$$x' = \frac{ax+b}{cx+d}.$$

One can check that the fermionic one is indeed a representation by using

$$sign(1 + (c + c')x) = sign(1 + c'x)sign(1 + c\frac{x}{1 + c'x}).$$

Then the two-point functions of fermionic primaries are

$$G_2(x_1, x_2) = d \,\delta_{\Delta_1, \Delta_2} \operatorname{sign}(x_{12}) |x_{12}|^{-2\Delta_1}, \qquad (2.49)$$

as those appearing in SYK model [46] and 1d analytic bootstrap [19]. Effectively the operators are anti-commutative.

Turning back to GCFT₂, the conformal group is ISO(2, 1) and the related spin group is $SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^3$. Following the procedure of 1d CFT, the transformation rule should be modified by adding sign^{*r*}(*cx*+*d*) when L_i is involved, and the two-point functions of fermionic primaries are

$$G_2(x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2) = d \,\delta_{\Delta_1, \Delta_2} \delta_{\xi_1, \xi_2} \operatorname{sign}(x_{12}) |x_{12}|^{-2\Delta_1} e^{2\xi_1 \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}}}.$$
(2.50)

For external fermionic operators, the propagating operator should be bosonic due to parity conservation. And the global block expansion gets no modification. For the generalized free theory in section 4, the four-point functions of generalized free fermions equal (s + t - u)channels, in contrast to (s + t + u) channels for generalized free bosons.

3 Harmonic analysis

3.1 Overview of harmonic analysis

In this section, we study the harmonic analysis on the symmetry group generated by GCA. Let us first review briefly the harmonic analysis in the conformal group.

One essential step in applying the inversion formula is to decompose the four-point function by using a set of complete basis of conformal group in the Euclidean space. The conformal group is now SO(d + 1, 1) in *d* dimensions. The complete basis consists of the normalizable eigenfunctions of the Hermitian Casimir operators. What one needs to do is specifying the Hilbert space which makes Casimirs Hermitian. This requires:

- 1. specifying the inner product;
- 2. specifying the boundary conditions.

Then using the boundary conditions, we can obtain the eigenfunctions of Casimirs, which include the principal series representations and possible discrete ones. For example, in CFT_1 , the Hermitian condition is,

$$(Cf,g) - (f,Cg) = 0 (3.1)$$

where C is a Casimir operator, and $(f,g) = \int dx \mu f^*g$ is the inner product. Specifying the inner product means that we need to specify the measure μ which makes the left side of (3.1) reduce to some boundary terms, then by choosing appropriate boundary conditions (including the normalizable condition) we can set these boundary terms vanish. So the functions satisfying the above boundary conditions, together with the above inner product defined on them, constitute the Hilbert space which makes the Casimir Hermitian.

The complete basis refers to a complete basis of the Hilbert space defined above. Note that the normalizable condition is considered as one requirement to define this Hilbert space, so only the normalizable part of the four-point function is in this Hilbert space, which means only this part can be decomposed into our complete basis. For the non-normalizable part of four-point function, the subtleties were explained in [18].

The so-called conformal partial waves (CPWs) corresponding to principal series representations and possible discrete ones are the expected complete basis. The orthogonality is guaranteed by the Hermitian condition. For physical blocks, which have real dimensions and satisfy the unitarity bound, there exists no inner product making them orthogonal. The CPWs are necessary when we try to invert the OPE.

Besides the usual CFT case, the above procedure has been applied to the study of other models with conformal symmetry, including the SYK model [45] and its supersymmetric version [46], different boundary condition for CFT_1 [50], the defect CFT [57] and the CFT at a finite temperature [58]. In the following subsection, we will apply this procedure to the 2d field theories with Galilean conformal symmetry.

3.2 Harmonic analysis on GCA

As the group generated by GCA is not semi-simple, we cannot apply the formal harmonic analysis for conformal symmetry group. Here we just follow the discussion on the SYK model.

There are two independent Casimir operators C_1 and C_2 for 2d GCA. However, one can not define a Hilbert space which makes C_1 and C_2 Hermitian simultaneously. From the point of view of taking the non-relativistic limit, as we will discuss in section 3.4, C_2 comes from the difference between the holomorphic and the antiholomorphic quadratic Casimirs, and is not suppose to be Hermitian. To evade this obstacle, we introduce a quartic Casimir $C_3 = C_2^2$, which is Hermitian together with C_1 . In the following, we use C_1 and C_3 to do harmonic analysis.

Let us first write down the action of these two Casimirs. For the quadratic Casimir, its action is

$$C_1 f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) = x^2 (1-x) \partial_y^2 f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) = \xi^2 f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y)$$
(3.2)

and for the quartic Casimir, it acts like

$$C_{3}f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) = C_{2}^{2}f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y)$$

= $[(3x-2)xy\partial_{y}^{2} + 2x^{2}(x-1)\partial_{x}\partial_{y} + 2x^{2}\partial_{y}]^{2}f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y)$ (3.3)
= $4\xi^{2}(\Delta-1)^{2}f_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y)$

where C_1, C_2 are the quadratic Casimirs defined in (2.17) and could be obtained by taking the non-relativistic limit on the quadratic Casimirs of CFT₂.

Now we can specify the Hilbert space. We define the inner product to be,

$$(f,g) = \int dx dy \mu(x,y) f^*g \tag{3.4}$$

The integral domain of (3.4) is restricted by the symmetry of the four-point function, which is the invariance under the exchange of $1 \leftrightarrow 2$ or $3 \leftrightarrow 4$, just as in the SYK model.¹¹ In our GCA case, we can use the global coordinate transformation such that [44]:

$$\{(x_i, y_i)\} \to \{(\infty, 0), (1, 0), (x, y), (0, 0)\}$$
(3.5)

Under the exchange of $1 \leftrightarrow 2$ or $3 \leftrightarrow 4$, using the above configuration and the expressing of the cross ratios (2.13), one can easily obtain the symmetry as follows:

$$x \to \frac{x}{x-1}, \qquad y \to \frac{-y}{(1-x)^2}.$$

$$(3.6)$$

Using this symmetry, it is easy to see that the required region is a strip,

$$x \in [0, 2], \qquad y \in (-\infty, +\infty).$$
 (3.7)

Now we use the Hermitian condition (Cf, g) - (f, Cg) = 0 to determine the measure. Since we have two Casimirs, the required Hilbert space should make both of the them Hermitian. Let us analyze them one by one to reduce the Hilbert space. For the quadratic Casimir C_1 , it is easy to see that it becomes a Strum-Liouville problem with respect to the variable y, so the measure is found to be independent of y: $\mu(x, y) = \mu(x)$. Then as expected, the Hermitian condition reduces to the boundary terms,

$$(C_1 f, g) - (f, C_1 g) = \int_0^2 dx \mu(x) \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dy \partial_y (g \partial_y f - f \partial_y g)$$
$$= \int_0^2 dx \mu(x) (g \partial_y f - f \partial_y g) \Big|_{-\infty}^{+\infty}.$$

¹¹In the SYK model, the 1 \leftrightarrow 2 or 3 \leftrightarrow 4 invariance of the four-point functions leads to the symmetry $\chi \to \frac{\chi}{\chi-1}$ (χ is the cross ratio), from which one get the boundary condition f'(2) = 0 and then determine the region to be $\chi \in [0, 2]$, see [45] for details.

The normalizable condition for the function f in y direction is:

$$f \to 0$$
 faster than $|y|^{-1/2}$, as $|y| \to \infty$, (3.8)

which ensures the boundary terms to be vanishing. The eigenfunctions of C_1 is of the form

$$\psi_{\xi}(x,y) = \exp \frac{\xi y}{x\sqrt{|1-x|}}.$$
(3.9)

The normalizable condition (3.8) requires that the quantum number ξ to be imaginary $\xi = ir$, where r is a real number. Note here that (3.9) are the eigenfunctions of C_1 , but the eigenvalues for $x \in (0, 1)$ and $x \in (1, 2)$ are different: ξ^2 in $x \in (0, 1)$, while $-\xi^2$ in $x \in (1, 2)$.

For the quartic Casimir C_3 , it is difficult to work with it directly. The idea is using the result for C_1 to decompose the Hilbert space into smaller ones. That is, using the above basis ψ_{ξ} to write,

$$f(x,y) = \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} d\xi \hat{f}_{\xi}(x) \psi_{\xi}(x,y).$$
 (3.10)

Now, we only need to decompose individual $\hat{f}_{\xi}(x)$. Substituting $\hat{f}_{\xi}(x)\psi_{\xi}(x,y)$ into the equation (3.3), we get a much simplified equation:

$$\hat{C}_3 \hat{f}_{\xi}(x) = [x^2(x-1)\partial_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x(2+x)\partial_x - 1]\hat{f}_{\xi}(x) = (1-\Delta)^2 \hat{f}_{\xi}(x)$$
(3.11)

where \hat{C}_3 means the reduced action on the function $\hat{f}_{\xi}(x)$. The dependence on y and ξ disappear in the above equation, and the equation reduces to a second order ordinary differential equation. Actually, $\hat{C}_3 = -\hat{C}_2^2$, where,

$$\hat{C}_2 = \sqrt{1 - x} x \partial_x + \frac{x - 2}{2\sqrt{1 - x}}.$$
 (3.12)

This \hat{C}_2 can also be obtained by substituting $\hat{f}_{\xi}(x)\psi_{\xi}(x,y)$ into the eigen-equation of C_2 : once again the y dependent terms cancel mutually.

From the second order differential equation (3.11) we again have a Sturm-Liouville problem, so the measure can be worked out:

$$\widetilde{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{x^2(x-1)} \exp \int \frac{2+x}{2x(x-1)} dx = \frac{\sqrt{|1-x|}}{x^3}.$$
(3.13)

Note that here we use $\tilde{\mu}$ because this is not the final measure. Also, we drop the integration constant because it is not important for a measure. Strictly speaking, there could be a difference between $x \in (0,1)$ and $x \in (1,2)$ up to a multiplicative constant, but this will reduce to the difference in the matching condition at x = 1, so it does not matter.

To find the total measure, we need to write down the Hermitian condition for C_3 explicitly:

$$\begin{aligned} &(C_3f,g) - (f,C_3g) \\ &= \int_0^2 dx\mu(x) \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dy [g(x,y)C_3f^*(x,y) - f^*(x,y)C_3g(x,y)] \\ &= \int_0^2 dx\mu(x) \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dy \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} d\xi' \int_{-i\infty}^{+i\infty} d\xi'' \psi_{\xi'}^*(x,y)\psi_{\xi''}(x,y) [\hat{C}_3\hat{f}_{\xi'}^*(x)\hat{g}_{\xi''}(x) - \hat{C}_3\hat{g}_{\xi''}(x)\hat{f}_{\xi'}^*(x)] \end{aligned}$$

Substituting (3.9) into the above relation, and write $\xi' = is$, $\xi'' = ir$, we find that the right-hand side becomes:

$$\begin{aligned} &\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dy \exp\left\{i(r-s)\frac{y}{x\sqrt{|1-x|}}\right\} \int_{0}^{2} dx\mu(x) \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} ds \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dr [\hat{C}_{3}\hat{f}_{is}^{*}(x)\hat{g}_{ir}(x) - \hat{C}_{3}\hat{g}_{ir}(x)\hat{f}_{is}^{*}(x)] \\ &= \int_{0}^{2} dx\mu(x)x\sqrt{|1-x|} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} ds \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dr\delta(r-s)[\hat{C}_{3}\hat{f}_{is}^{*}(x)\hat{g}_{ir}(x) - \hat{C}_{3}\hat{g}_{ir}(x)\hat{f}_{is}^{*}(x)]. \end{aligned}$$

So we have:

$$\mu(x)x\sqrt{|1-x|} = \tilde{\mu}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{|1-x|}}{x^3}.$$
(3.14)

Our final result for the measure is simply:

$$\mu(x) = \frac{1}{x^4},\tag{3.15}$$

which can be actually obtained from the one in CFT_2 by taking the non-relativistic limit.

Next, we want to determine the Galilean conformal partial waves (GCPWs). Similar to the CFT case, this requires to find all the solution with same eigenvalues of C_1 and C_3 . For given eigenvalues of quadratic and quartic Casimirs, there are four independent solutions:

$$\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \qquad \chi_{2-\Delta,\xi}, \qquad \chi_{\Delta,-\xi}, \qquad \chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi} \tag{3.16}$$

where,

$$\chi_{\Delta,\xi} = \frac{x^{\Delta}(1+\sqrt{1-x})^{2-2\Delta}}{\sqrt{1-x}} e^{\frac{-\xi y}{x\sqrt{1-x}}}.$$
(3.17)

These four solutions are related by the symmetry of the eigenvalues: $\Delta \leftrightarrow 2 - \Delta$ and $\xi \leftrightarrow -\xi$. More precisely, due to the fact that $\hat{C}_3 = -\hat{C}_2^2$, to obtain these four solutions we only need to solve the eigen-equation of \hat{C}_2 , i.e. Eq. (3.12), together with the y dependent part (3.9).

The above solutions should be taken with care. First of all, because the $\sqrt{1-x}$ factor is double-valued, we need to specify one of them. In fact, the other choice correspond to another independent solution which is just $\chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi}$. This is similar to 1D conformal block, where there are two branch points at 0 and 1. Secondly, the above solutions are not valid in the entire region $x \in (0,2)$, because there is a singular point at x = 1, which is a branch point as well. Nevertheless, the above expressions of solutions are valid in the interval (0,1) and (1,2) separately. The point here is, for example, if we have a solution (3.17) for $x \in (0, 1)$, then continue it to $x \in (1, 2)$, which means the matching between $x = 1^+$ and $x = 1^-$, we can not find (3.17) anymore. Instead, we will find a solution which is a linear combination of the four solutions in (3.16). Just like in the SYK model, the analytic continuation form x < 1 either below or above the real axis to x > 1 will not give a solution we need in 1 < x < 2, only one of their combination does the job.

To obtain the GCPWs of CGA, we need to consider the solutions in different regions and match them properly. Let us first analyze the region $x \in (1, 2)$ case. From the above analysis, we know that (3.16) in $x \in (1, 2)$ are different from the ones in $x \in (0, 1)$, so for $x \in (1, 2)$ we label these solutions as

$$\chi'_{\Delta',\xi'}, \qquad \chi'_{2-\Delta',\xi'}, \qquad \chi'_{\Delta',-\xi'}, \qquad \chi'_{2-\Delta',-\xi'} \tag{3.18}$$

where

$$\chi'_{\Delta',\xi'} = \frac{x^{\Delta'}(1+i\sqrt{x-1})^{2-2\Delta'}}{\sqrt{x-1}}e^{\frac{i\xi' y}{x\sqrt{x-1}}}.$$
(3.19)

Then the GCPWs in $x \in (1, 2)$ are:

$$\Phi_{\Delta',\xi'} = a_1 \chi'_{\Delta',\xi'} + a_2 \chi'_{2-\Delta',\xi'} + a_3 \chi'_{\Delta',-\xi'} + a_4 \chi'_{2-\Delta',-\xi'}, \qquad 1 < x < 2.$$
(3.20)

Because of the symmetry (3.6), we get the boundary condition at x = 2:

$$\Phi_{\Delta',\xi'}(2,y) = \Phi_{\Delta',\xi'}(2,-y), \tag{3.21}$$

which leads to

$$a_1 = a_3, \qquad a_2 = a_4.$$
 (3.22)

Notice that x = 2, y = 0 is a fixed point, so we have another boundary condition¹²:

$$\partial_x \Phi_{\Delta',\xi'}(2,0) = 0$$

which leads to

$$a_1(1+i)^{2-2\Delta'} = a_2(1-i)^{2-2\Delta'}$$

After setting $a_1 = 1$, we finally obtain

$$a_1 = a_3 = 1, \qquad a_2 = a_4 = e^{i\pi(1-\Delta')}.$$
 (3.23)

Note that we can not write $e^{i\pi(1-\Delta')} = (-1)^{i\pi(1-\Delta')}$ because of the multi-valuedness.

Next, we have to continue the GCPWs to 0 < x < 1 with the matching condition at x = 1

$$\Phi_{\Delta,\xi}(1^-, y) = \Phi_{\Delta',\xi'}(1^+, y). \tag{3.24}$$

¹²This boundary condition is similar with f'(2) = 0 in [45].

As $x \to 1$, we set $|\sqrt{1-x}| = \epsilon \to 0$ in the following. For $x \to 1^+$, we find

$$\chi'_{\Delta',\xi'}(1^+, y) = \frac{(1+i\epsilon)^{2-2\Delta'}}{\epsilon} e^{\frac{i\xi' y}{\epsilon}}, \qquad (3.25)$$

then the GCPWs as $\epsilon \to 0$

$$\Phi_{\Delta,\xi}(1^+, y) = (a_1 + a_2) \frac{1}{\epsilon} e^{\frac{i\xi' y}{\epsilon}} + (a_3 + a_4) \frac{1}{\epsilon} e^{\frac{-i\xi' y}{\epsilon}} + (a_2 - a_1)(2 - 2\Delta') i e^{\frac{i\xi' y}{\epsilon}} + (a_4 - a_3)(2 - 2\Delta') i e^{\frac{-i\xi' y}{\epsilon}} + \cdots$$
(3.26)

Here we have neglected the higher order terms, which vanish in the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit.¹³ On the other hand, we write the GCPWs in 0 < x < 1 as:

$$\Phi_{\Delta,\xi} = b_1 \chi_{\Delta,\xi} + b_2 \chi_{2-\Delta,\xi} + b_3 \chi_{\Delta,-\xi} + b_4 \chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi}, \qquad 0 < x < 1.$$
(3.27)

When $x \to 1^-$, we have the GCPWs

$$\Phi_{\Delta,\xi}(1^{-},y) = (b_1 + b_2) \frac{1}{\epsilon} e^{\frac{-\xi y}{\epsilon}} + (b_3 + b_4) \frac{1}{\epsilon} e^{\frac{\xi y}{\epsilon}} + (b_2 - b_1)(2 - 2\Delta) e^{\frac{-\xi y}{\epsilon}} + (b_4 - b_3)(2 - 2\Delta) e^{\frac{\xi y}{\epsilon}} + \cdots$$
(3.28)

The matching of the GCPWs at x = 1 leads to the identification of the exponential factor

$$\xi' = i\xi \quad \text{or} \quad -i\xi, \qquad \Delta' = \Delta \quad \text{or} \quad 2 - \Delta.$$
 (3.29)

In fact, this relation just reflects the normalizable condition in y direction, where $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ for $x \in (0, 1)$ and $\xi \in i\mathbb{R}$ for $x \in (1, 2)$. The identification of the coefficients before the exponentials gives

$$a_1 + a_2 = b_1 + b_2,$$
 $i(a_1 - a_2) = b_1 - b_2,$
 $a_3 + a_4 = b_3 + b_4,$ $i(a_3 - a_4) = b_3 - b_4.$

Finally we get the coefficients

$$b_1 = b_3 = \frac{1+i}{2} + \frac{1-i}{2}e^{i\pi(1-\Delta)},$$

$$b_2 = b_4 = \frac{1-i}{2} + \frac{1+i}{2}e^{i\pi(1-\Delta)},$$
(3.30)

and the GCPWs

$$\Phi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) = \begin{cases} \chi'_{\Delta,\xi} + \chi'_{\Delta,-\xi} + e^{i\pi(1-\Delta)}(\chi'_{2-\Delta,\xi} + \chi'_{2-\Delta,-\xi}), & \text{for } 1 < x < 2, \\ \\ b_1(\chi_{\Delta,\xi} + \chi_{\Delta,-\xi}) + b_2(\chi_{2-\Delta,\xi} + \chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi}), & \text{for } 0 < x < 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.31)

¹³Note that the exponential part is oscillatory and bounded, due to the normalizable condition in the y direction (3.8). This is true for both $x \in (1, 2)$ and $x \in (0, 1)$.

where $\chi'_{\Delta,\xi}$ and $\chi_{\Delta,\xi}$ are given in (3.19) and (3.17) respectively. As before, now using the normalizable condition to determine Δ , we find that the solutions have the power law behaviour near x = 0:

$$\chi_{\Delta,\xi} \sim \chi_{\Delta,-\xi} \sim x^{\Delta}, \qquad \chi_{2-\Delta,\xi} \sim \chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi} \sim x^{2-\Delta}.$$
 (3.32)

Because $\tilde{\mu}(x) \sim x^{-3}$, so to make GCPWs normalizable, one way is to allow all four terms. This leads to

$$\begin{cases} 2\operatorname{Re}\Delta - 3 \ge -1, \\ 2(2 - \operatorname{Re}\Delta) - 3 \ge -1. \end{cases}$$
(3.33)

The only solution to the above two constraints is $\text{Re}\Delta = 1$, that is:

$$\Delta = 1 + is, \quad s \in \mathbb{R}. \tag{3.34}$$

This is the usual quantum numbers of the principal series representation. Just like the SYK model, each term is marginally allowable. Another possible way to have normalizable CPWs is to let two of four terms vanish, namely, let $b_1 = b_3 = 0$ or $b_2 = b_4 = 0$. This leads to the discrete series:

$$\Delta = \frac{5}{2} + 2n \quad \text{or} \quad \Delta = -\frac{1}{2} - 2n \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \cdots.$$
 (3.35)

Note that the $(-\frac{1}{2})$ -series is linearly dependent on the $\frac{5}{2}$ -series, due to the symmetry $\Delta \leftrightarrow 2-\Delta$. This \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry also appear in the principal series: $\Psi_{\Delta,\xi}$ and $\Psi_{2-\Delta,\xi}$ are linearly dependent. Besides, there is another symmetry $\xi \leftrightarrow -\xi$ for $\Psi_{\Delta,\xi}$ in both case. Moreover, it is easy to see that for both $\xi = ir$, $\Delta = 1 + is$ and $\xi = ir$, $\Delta = -1/2 - 2n$, the eigenvalues of the Casimirs are real.

To compare with CFT, the GCPWs can be written in a more symmetric form by multiplying a factor $e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(\Delta-1)}$.

$$\Psi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) = \begin{cases} e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(\Delta-1)}(\chi'_{\Delta,\xi} + \chi'_{\Delta,-\xi}) + e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(1-\Delta)}(\chi'_{2-\Delta,\xi} + \chi'_{2-\Delta,-\xi}), & \text{for } 1 < x < 2, \\ \\ A(\Delta)(\chi_{\Delta,\xi} + \chi_{\Delta,-\xi}) + A(2-\Delta)(\chi_{2-\Delta,\xi} + \chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi}), & \text{for } 0 < x < 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.36)$$

where

$$A(\Delta) = e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(\Delta - 1)}b_1 = \sin\frac{\pi\Delta}{2} + \cos\frac{\pi\Delta}{2},$$
(3.37)

$$A(2 - \Delta) = e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(\Delta - 1)}b_2 = \sin\frac{\pi\Delta}{2} - \cos\frac{\pi\Delta}{2}.$$
 (3.38)

From now on, we use this symmetric form of the GCPWs for discussion.

Note that in the CFT case as well as the SYK case, for the principal series we have an alternative expression called the shadow integral representations. In GCA case, it will be

interesting to ask whether there exists an analogue of shadow representation for our principal series. This will be the subject of section 6.

Now, let us work out the orthogonality and the completeness of our GCPWs. Firstly, because of the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry:

$$\Delta \leftrightarrow 2 - \Delta, \qquad \xi \leftrightarrow -\xi, \tag{3.39}$$

the quantum number of our complete basis can be chosen to be: $\xi = ir$, $\Delta = 1 + is$ or $\Delta = -1/2 - 2n$ with $r, s \in \mathbb{R}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Now we determine the normalization factor in the inner product. For the principal series, we expect the inner product $(\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \chi_{\Delta',\xi'})$ to be proportional to $\delta(r - r')\delta(s - s')$, so we only need to consider the singular part of the inner product, which comes from the integral over the small x region, as the y part just gives $2\pi x \sqrt{|1 - x|}\delta(r - r')$. Then it turns out to be

$$(\Psi_{1+is,ir},\Psi_{1+is',ir'}) = 4\pi^2 N \delta(r-r') \delta(s-s'), \qquad (3.40)$$

where

$$N = -\cos \pi \Delta = A(\Delta)A(2 - \Delta). \tag{3.41}$$

For the discrete series, we can calculate the normalization factor directly:

$$(\Psi_{\Delta,\xi}, \Psi_{\Delta',\xi'}) = N'\delta(r - r')\delta_{nn'}, \qquad (3.42)$$

where

$$N' = \pi = A(\Delta)\partial_{\Delta}A(2 - \Delta). \tag{3.43}$$

Of course, the principal and the discrete series are orthogonal to each other:

$$(\Psi_{1+is,ir}, \Psi_{-\frac{1}{2}-2n,ir'}) = 0. \tag{3.44}$$

For the orthogonality, here we cannot simply follow the fact that for the Hermitian operators the eigenfunctions with different eigenvalues are orthogonal to each other, because our GCPWs are not the eigenfunctions of the Casimirs in the whole region. As mentioned before, the GCPWs are the eigenfunctions only for $x \in (0, 1)$ and $x \in (1, 2)$ separately, but with different eigenvalues in these two regions. Nevertheless, based on this fact and just follow our analysis step by step one can easily find that our GCPWs are indeed orthogonal with each other. The completeness relation is then:

$$\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_0^{+\infty} ds \int_0^{+\infty} dr \frac{1}{N} \Psi_{1+is,ir}(x,y) \Psi_{1+is,ir}(x',y') + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{+\infty} dr \frac{1}{N'} \Psi_{-\frac{1}{2}-2n,ir}(x,y) \Psi_{-\frac{1}{2}-2n',ir}(x',y') = x^4 \delta(x-x') \delta(y-y').$$
(3.45)

3.3 Read Data from Inversion

A four-point function admits global block expansion in which the expansion coefficients contain the data of the theory. It admits the GCPW expansion as well, where the expansion coefficients can be obtained by using the inversion formula. The two expansions are related by the contour deformation. In this section, we want to explain how to get the date from the inversion formula.

The standard (Euclidean) inversion formula method takes the inner product of the fourpoint function and the CPWs to obtain the inversion function. After analytic continuation and contour deformation, one can read the spectrum and the OPEs from the poles and the residues of this inversion function.

The contour deformation analysis is still valid in the GCFT case. Here we would like to point out some novel features in the GCFT case. Firstly, we note that though our harmonic analysis include two regions, 0 < x < 1 and 1 < x < 2, we can actually use any one of them to find the block expansion. In practice, we will work in the region 0 < x < 1 in the following. Now we write the GCPWs expansion of a four-point function:

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \int_0^\infty dr \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_0^\infty ds \frac{1}{N} \Psi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}) + \int_0^\infty dr \sum_n \frac{1}{N'} \Psi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}).$$
(3.46)

As we will show shortly, one can double the integral region and then try to use a contour deformation and find that the contributions from the arc at infinity (to the right hand side) can be dropped so that the above integral become a sum of residues which located at physical poles.

Secondly, the $\xi = 0$ part should be treated separately as we mentioned in section 2.2. In this paper, we only deal with theories with no $\xi = 0$ spectrum, for example, the Generalized Galilean Free Field Theories in section 4. For the treatment of the $\xi = 0$ case, see [53].

Thirdly, the multiplets appear as the multiple poles in the inversion function. As we have already shown, the multiplets are essential existence in GCFTs. But only the singlet blocks are the eigenfunctions of the Casimirs, and the singlets appear as simple poles in the inversion function just as in the CFT case. So how to see the multiplets in the inversion formula? The answer is that they appear as multiple poles. This can be understood by considering Fourier analysis. The analog of a conformal block is e^{st} with s real, which is generally not in the Hilbert space of the Fourier analysis¹⁴. In fact, our GCA global blocks as well as physical four-point functions are in the same case: they are generally not in the Hilbert space of the GCA harmonic analysis. To discuss these more general functions, we need to extend Fourier transform to Laplace transform. Here is a toy model for the inversion method: for a single

¹⁴With s pure imaginary, e^{st} is a complete basis, so is the analog of CPW or GCPW.

"conformal block" $f_{s_0}(t) \equiv e^{s_0 t}$, after the unilateral Laplace transform

$$F(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{-st} f_{s_0}(t) dt,$$
(3.47)

one get $F(s) = \frac{1}{s-s_0}$. So it appears as a simple pole at $s = s_0$, which means that we can read the spectrum $s = s_0$ directly (of course here the residue, which is related to the OPE, is 1). For the GCA case, the multiplets involve additionally "multi-blocks":

$$\partial_s^n e^{s_0 t} = t^n e^{s_0 t},\tag{3.48}$$

which corresponds to a multiple pole after the Laplace transform

$$\frac{n!}{(s-s_0)^{n+1}}.$$

In fact, this is exactly what happens in the GCA inversion because the block of multiplets is related to the global block by

$$g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(n)} = \partial_{\xi}^{n} g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(0)}, \quad g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(0)} \propto \exp\left(-\xi \frac{y}{x\sqrt{(1-x)}}\right),$$

such that ξ plays the role of s and $\frac{y}{x\sqrt{(1-x)}}$ plays the role of t in the Laplace transform. Moreover, we observe that in order to get the block expansion, we only do the unilateral Laplace transform, which means we only need to use a half of the integral region. The full integral (bilateral Laplace transform) is actually divergent for a single block $e^{s_0 t}$, but since we only concern its analytic structure, the unilateral Laplace transform is enough. This is also the case for an GCA four-point function. In the next section when we discuss GGFT, we will use this logic and show explicitly the independence of the integral region.

Now let us make the above analysis more explicitly. For a stripped four point function $\mathcal{G}(x,y)$, we first use the GCA inversion formula to get a GCA inversion function:

$$I(\Delta,\xi) = (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}) \tag{3.49}$$

Using the above GCA inversion formula, one gets the expansion with respect to the GCPWs. the global block expansion is

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \sum_{\Delta,\xi,k} P_{\Delta,\xi,k} \partial_{\xi}^{k} g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(0)}, \quad x < 1.$$
(3.50)

Now we would like to compare the block expansion and the GCPW decomposition for $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$ in the region x < 1 to get the relation between $I(\Delta, \xi)$ and $P_{\Delta,\xi,k}$. For the GCPW expansion, we have

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \int_0^\infty dr \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \int_0^\infty ds \frac{1}{N} \Psi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}) + \int_0^\infty dr \sum_n \frac{1}{N'} \Psi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}), \quad (3.51)$$



Figure 1: The contours in the Δ -plane and ξ -plane.

which contains the contribution to the poles in the inversion function We want to move the integral contour on the complex Δ -plane and complex ξ -plane. We need fix ξ firstly to get the complex Δ -plane, and choose the contour as in Fig.1a : the contour goes clockwise along the line $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) = 1$ and the arc at infinity. This will help us to read the potential poles corresponding to the physical spectrum. Then we may fix Δ to work on complex ξ -plane, and choose the contour as in Fig. 1b: the contour goes clockwise along the line $\operatorname{Re}(\xi) = 0$ and the arc at infinity. This will pick up the physical poles corresponding to ξ spectrum. However, it is not obvious that the contribution from the arc at infinity is always under well control, considering all four terms in the GCPWs. To make sure these contour integral are always well-defined, we need to use the symmetry of the GCPWs under $\Delta \to 2 - \Delta$, $\xi \to -\xi$ to re-express the above expansion. By expressing it from the $\chi_{\Delta,\xi}$ term, the contribution from the principal series part in $\mathcal{G}(x, y)$ is

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \int_{C_{\xi}} d\xi \int_{C_{\Delta}} d\Delta \frac{1}{N} I(\Delta,\xi) A(\Delta) \chi_{\Delta,\xi} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^2} \int_{C_{\xi}} d\xi \int_{C_{\Delta}} d\Delta I(\Delta,\xi) \chi_{\Delta,\xi} \frac{1}{A(2-\Delta)} \chi_{\Delta,\xi} \frac{1}{A(2-\Delta)} \int_{C_{\xi}} d\xi \int_{C_{\Delta}} d\Delta I(\Delta,\xi) \chi_{\Delta,\xi} \frac{1}{A(2-\Delta)} \chi_{\Delta,$$

where each contribution from $\chi_{\Delta,-\xi}$ and $\chi_{2-\Delta,\pm\xi}$ is the same as the one from $\chi_{\Delta,\xi}$. This allows us to double the integral region twice. At this moment, the integral is on the complex Δ plane and complex ξ plane. The relation $\Delta = 1 + is, \xi = ir$ gives additional $\frac{1}{i^2}$ as the pre-factor of the integrand.

Note that the factor $A(2 - \Delta)$ has simple zeros at $\Delta = \Delta_n$, which gives the discrete

spectrum. Deforming the integral contour, one also picks up the residues at these simple poles of $\frac{1}{A(2-\Delta)}$. The residue reads,

$$\sum_{n} \operatorname{Res} |_{\Delta = \Delta_n} \frac{1}{A(2 - \Delta)} = \sum_{n} \frac{1}{\partial_{\Delta} A(2 - \Delta)} |_{\Delta = \Delta_n}$$

Considering the direction of the contour, this cancels the contribution from the discrete spectrum which is

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\xi}} d\xi \sum_{n} \frac{1}{\partial_{\Delta} A(2-\Delta)} \chi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y)(\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}).$$

Combining them, one gets the contribution from the physical spectrum as follows,

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = -\sum_{l} \operatorname{Res} |_{\xi_l} \sum_{m} \operatorname{Res} |_{\Delta_m} \frac{1}{A(2-\Delta)} I(\Delta,\xi) \chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \quad x < 1,$$
(3.52)

where $I(\Delta, \xi)$ has poles at $\xi = \xi_l$ and $\Delta = \Delta_m$, which constitute the physical spectrum. On the other hand, the global blocks of multiplets read

$$g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(k)} = 2^{2\Delta-2} \partial_{\xi}^k \chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \qquad (3.53)$$

so the singular part in $I(\Delta, \xi)$ reads

$$I(\Delta,\xi) \sim -\sum_{\Delta_m,\xi_l,k} A(2-\Delta)\Gamma(k+1) \frac{2^{2\Delta_m-2}}{(\xi-\xi_l)^{k+1}} \frac{P_{\Delta_m,\xi_l,k+1}}{\Delta-\Delta_m} + \text{shadow poles.}$$
(3.54)

We see that generically, there are multiple poles in ξ and single poles in Δ in the inversion function. What's more, there are shadow poles in the inversion function. Consider

$$I(\Delta,\xi) = (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G})$$

= $A(2-\Delta)(\chi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}) + A(2-\Delta)(\chi_{\Delta,-\xi},\mathcal{G}) + A(\Delta)(\chi_{2-\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}) + A(\Delta)(\chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi},\mathcal{G}),$

one do not know a priori which of the four terms contributes to the physical poles. If $(\mathcal{G}, \chi_{\Delta,\xi})$ contributes to the physical poles, it should have the following singular behaviour,

$$(\Psi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}) \sim -\sum_{\Delta_m,\xi_l,k} \Gamma(k+1) \frac{2^{2\Delta_m-2}}{(\xi-\xi_l)^{k+1}} \frac{P_{\Delta_m,\xi_l,k+1}}{\Delta-\Delta_m}$$
(3.55)

We can see in the next section that this is the case for the GGFTs.

3.4 Limiting Analysis

The GCFT₂ can be seen as the non-relativistic limit of the CFT₂, which has the space time coordinates z = x + y, $\bar{z} = x - y$ [42, 44, 59],

$$x \to x, \quad y \to \epsilon y, \quad \epsilon \to 0.$$
 (3.56)

This is to take the speed of light $c \to \infty^{15}$. In this sense, it is called the non-relativistic limit. Under this limit, the generators behave as,

$$L_n = \mathcal{L}_n + \bar{\mathcal{L}}_n, \quad M_n = \epsilon (\mathcal{L}_n - \bar{\mathcal{L}}_n)$$
(3.57)

where $\mathcal{L}_n, \bar{\mathcal{L}}_n$ are the generators of the two copies of Virasoro algebra of CFT₂, and the Virasoro central charges c, \bar{c} become,

$$c_L = \frac{c + \bar{c}}{12}, \quad c_M = \frac{\epsilon(c - \bar{c})}{12}.$$
 (3.58)

Starting with the highest weight representation in CFT_2 , one gets the highest weight representation in $GCFT_2$ after taking the non-relativistic limit. The weights and charges of operators are related as follows,

$$\Delta = h + \bar{h}, \quad \xi = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon (h - \bar{h}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon (\pm J), \tag{3.59}$$

where h, \bar{h} are (anti-)holomorphic weight of the operators in CFT₂.

Consequently, many kinematic quantities can be obtained by this limiting method, including the Casimirs, the two-point functions, three-point functions, the null vectors and the global conformal blocks of singlets, etc. Interestingly, we will show in the next section that this limiting method can even be valid in the dynamical level, namely, it can be used to obtain the results on GGFT. Particularly, one can easily see that how the multiplets appear after taking the limit. On the other hand, when we try to revisit the harmonic analysis by using the limiting method, surprising things happen: we find that it is impossible to reach the result of GCA harmonic analysis, though the symmetry is preserved well in the limiting procedure.

Now, we turn to discuss the harmonic analysis of GCA from the point of view of taking the non-relativistic limit. We will show that it is in principle impossible to obtain the GCA harmonic analysis result by taking the limit. The reason is, in a word, that the Hilbert space in the GCA harmonic analysis can not be obtained from the one in 2d conformal harmonic analysis. We will discuss two different aspects of this claim, both related to the definition of the Hilbert space. The first one is the normalizable condition, which determine the quantum number of GCPWs. The other one is the boundary condition.¹⁶

Before explaining the two unsuccessful aspects of the limiting method, let us note that there is actually something still valid. After taking the limit, the measure becomes

$$\mu(x,y) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{z^2 \bar{z}^2} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{(x+\epsilon y)^2 (x-\epsilon y)^2} = \frac{1}{x^4},$$
(3.60)

¹⁵There are actually two distinct contractions both leading to GCA from 2d conformal algebra. However, as explained in [44], only the non-relativistic limit is relevant to the highest weight representations. We will focus on the non-relativistic contraction.

 $^{^{16}}$ Note that all the previous results (for example, the ones in [42, 44, 59]) that can be obtained by the limiting method do not involve the boundaries.

which perfectly match with the one in GCA harmonic analysis. Notice that the measure is independent of the normalizable condition as well as the boundary condition.

It is most obvious to see the ineffectiveness of the limiting method by considering the quantum numbers. For the quantum number of the GCPWs, the principal values of Δ are actually the same as the ones in 2d conformal harmonic analysis. However, it is impossible to obtain the discrete values of Δ or the quantum number of ξ . Let us explain this point in detail. Firstly, a function $\mathcal{G}(z, \bar{z})$ in the Hilbert space of the 2d conformal harmonic analysis has the following CPW decomposition:

$$\mathcal{G}(z,\bar{z}) = \sum_{J=0}^{\infty} \int_{1-i\infty}^{1+i\infty} \frac{d\Delta}{2\pi i} c(\Delta,J) F_{\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z}), \qquad (3.61)$$

Taking the limit on both sides, the question is whether or not that the right-hand side (RHS) will become the GCPW decomposition of the left hand side. We want to look at the quantum number on the RHS. From (3.59), a finite J always leads to $\xi = 0$ after taking the limit. This is a trivial case because both sides will be y independent under the limit. In order to obtain a non-trivial result, the spin appeared in the CPW decomposition of $\mathcal{G}(z, \bar{z})$ must be of order $\frac{1}{2}$. Then after the limit, the function on the left-hand side (LHS) still has y dependence and the quantum number ξ on the RHS is nonvanishing and finite (in fact, GGFTs in the next section are in this case). There are several possible problems. The first one is: do CPWs have reasonable (finite) limiting results? We will show this is true in the next paragraph. Another subtle point is on the commutativity between doing the J summation and doing the Δ integral in the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit. Even if we ignore the above subtle issues, it seems impossible to obtain a continuous spectrum of ξ by taking the limit. No matter what Hilbert space we use, the spectrum of ξ should be continuous because the y direction is not compact. As the spin is discrete, it seems impossible to translate the J summation in the RHS of (3.61) into an integral of ξ after taking the limit. In fact, the true principal value of ξ should be pure imaginary which originates from the normalizable condition of the y direction. Moreover, the possible discrete series of Δ , which does not appear in a 2d CFT at all, cannot appear from taking the limit on the RHS of (3.61) either. This discreteness also originates from the normalizable condition for the x direction.

Next, let us turn to the boundary conditions for GCPWs, which will be more explicit. It has already been known that a single conformal block can be obtained by taking the limit [44]. In fact, it turns out that the full CPWs is well defined (finite) in the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit. Recall that the CPW in a *d* dimensional CFT takes the following form:

$$F_{\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z}) = K_{\Delta,J}G_{\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z}) + K_{d-\Delta,J}G_{d-\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z})$$
(3.62)

where $G_{\Delta,J}(z,\bar{z})$ is the conformal block, and

$$K_{\Delta,J} = \frac{\Gamma(\Delta - 1)}{\Gamma(\Delta - \frac{d}{2})} \kappa_{\Delta + J}, \qquad \kappa_{\beta} = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2} - a)\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2} + a)\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2} - b)\Gamma(\frac{\beta}{2} + b)}{2\pi^{2}\Gamma(\beta - 1)\Gamma(\beta)}.$$
(3.63)

In the d = 2 case, if we take the limit on the CPWs, divergences appear in both the two terms. The point here is that only the relative ratio between the coefficients $\frac{K_{d-\Delta,J}}{K_{\Delta,J}}$ is meaningful, which reaches a finite value under the limit. We observe that all gamma functions in $\frac{K_{d-\Delta,J}}{K_{\Delta,J}}$ could be combined into Beta functions:

$$B(b,c) \equiv \frac{\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(b+c)} = \int_0^1 y^{b-1} (1-y)^{c-1} dy.$$
 (3.64)

Then in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, we can use the saddle point approximation for these Beta functions just as in [44], and find that the relative ratio between the coefficients of the block and its shadow is 1. This is very different from the GCPWs in our intrinsic harmonic analysis.

Now, we explain what goes wrong in this story. In short, the origin of the mismatch stems from the boundary conditions. More precisely, unlike the measure, the computation of the GCPWs are closely related to the boundary conditions. In fact, the differential equation (3.2) and (3.3) can be obtained from taking the limit [44], but we are not sure whether the boundary conditions can also be preserved in the limiting procedure. Let us look more carefully. Notice that unlike the ones in usual CFT, the GCPWs in Galilean conformal theory are linear combinations of four blocks. This is not strange because $J = |h - \bar{h}|$, so the combination of ξ block and $-\xi$ block correspond to a single block in CFT. It gives naturally the $\xi \leftrightarrow -\xi$ symmetry of GCPWs in GCA. Moreover, in CFT₂ there is a symmetry

$$z \to \frac{z}{z-1} \qquad \bar{z} \to \frac{\bar{z}}{\bar{z}-1},$$
(3.65)

which transforms into

$$2x = z + \bar{z} \to \frac{z}{z-1} + \frac{\bar{z}}{\bar{z}-1} = \frac{2x}{x-1} + O(\epsilon)$$

$$2\epsilon y = z - \bar{z} \to \frac{z}{z-1} - \frac{\bar{z}}{\bar{z}-1} = \frac{-2\epsilon y}{(x-1)^2} + O(\epsilon^2).$$
(3.66)

After taking the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit, this is just the symmetry (3.6) for GCA. It seems that the boundary conditions in harmonic analysis could also be obtained by taking the limit because they come from the symmetry. However, this $\epsilon \to 0$ limit for the boundary conditions is illegal because the symmetry property for the CPWs can not be preserved in the limiting procedure. The point here is that, when we do the limiting analysis, because $\xi = \epsilon J$, we must analytically continue the spin $J = h - \bar{h}^{17}$, then the CPWs for 2d conformal group will generally do not

¹⁷As noted in [46], 2d CPW $F_{h,\bar{h}}$ has a meromorphic continuation in h, but need to keep the spin $h - \bar{h}$ fixed to be an integer. So in the following we will see that multi-valuedness appear when we analytically continue the spin.

have the symmetry (3.65). In fact, with respect to (3.65) the CPWs of 2d conformal group transforms as [46]

$$F_{h,\bar{h}}(\frac{z}{z-1},\frac{\bar{z}}{\bar{z}-1}) = (-1)^{h-\bar{h}}F_{h,\bar{h}}(z,\bar{z}),$$
(3.67)

which holds only for integer spin so $(-1)^{h-\bar{h}}$ make sense. More precisely, the above symmetry (3.67) only holds for CPWs with even values of $J = h - \bar{h}$. Because (3.65) arises from the invariance of the four-point function under $z_1 \leftrightarrow z_2$, this means a four-point function that possesses the $z_1 \leftrightarrow z_2$ symmetry can only receive contributions from $F_{h,\bar{h}}$ with even spin. However, under the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit, this even spin condition gets lost and the relation (3.67) does not hold any more. More concretely, because z = 1, $\bar{z} = 1$ become branch points when J is analytically continued, the symmetry (3.65) can be rewritten as:

$$1 - z \to \frac{1}{1 - z}, \qquad 1 - \bar{z} \to \frac{1}{1 - \bar{z}}.$$
 (3.68)

Consequently in the arguments of $1 - z \equiv re^{i\theta}$ and $1 - \overline{z} \equiv re^{-i\theta}$, the transformation (3.65) results in the transformation

$$\theta \to -\theta,$$
 (3.69)

which means that the RHS and LHS of (3.67) may live on different sheets with respect to the branch point z = 1, $\bar{z} = 1$. Thus, when J is not restrict to be an integer, (3.67) is not correct. Only a single conformal block have a definite transformation law. For J being an integer, the transformation law of a conformal block coincides with its shadow, so (3.67) holds. If one consider the fixed point of (3.65):

$$z = \bar{z} = 2,$$
 or $1 - z = 1 - \bar{z} = -1,$ (3.70)

then $\theta = (2n+1)\pi$, after the transformation (3.65),

$$\Delta \theta \equiv \theta - (-\theta) = (2n+1)2\pi. \tag{3.71}$$

Thus, when we consider the CPWs, the fixed point $(z, \bar{z}) = (2, 2)$ is at a different sheet after the transformation (3.65). Only when J is an even integer, the CPWs are single valued and (3.67) holds and the CPWs have the symmetry (3.65), given the Euclidean condition $\bar{z} = z^*$. In this case at $(z, \bar{z}) = (2, 2)$ we have the boundary conditions satisfied by CPWs just like in the 1d case¹⁸. However, when J is analytically continued, taking the limit does not lead to any boundary condition. In short, after taking the limit, for CPWs we do not have the symmetry (3.6) as well as the boundary conditions (3.23). Note that there is another symmetry $z \leftrightarrow \bar{z}$

¹⁸For the 1d case [45], a single conformal block indeed has similar transformation law for $\chi \to \frac{\chi}{\chi^{-1}}$ (χ is the 1d cross ratio), so only when the quantum number of Δ is an even integer can it be a CPW. This fact is reflected on the appearance of the discrete series.

in 2d CPWs, which becomes the symmetry $y \leftrightarrow -y$ after taking the limit, so the boundary condition (3.21) still hold. In fact this is related to the $\xi \leftrightarrow -\xi$ symmetry.

Finally, our harmonic analysis is like the one in CFT_1 , which relies on the space of real xand y, while the $d \ge 2$ conformal Harmonic analysis stand on the Euclidean space $\bar{z} = z^*$ with z and \bar{z} complex. In the $d \ge 2$ conformal Harmonic analysis one needs a single valued boundary condition at $z = \bar{z} = 1$ to ensure that the CPWs are Euclidean single valued. Our GCA case do not have such a boundary condition. Instead, near x = 1, we have a matching condition similar to the 1d case, which makes our GCPWs have different expressions for 0 < x < 1 and 1 < x < 2. One can not see this piece-wise structure when take the the limit of a CPW, note that this matching condition is also related to the normalizable condition for the Hilbert space.

4 Generalized Galilean Free Field Theories

In this section, we study generalized free theories (GFT) with Galilean conformal symmetries. The correlation functions in GFTs can be read from the Wick contraction. We consider a generalized Galilean free field theory (GGFT) which contains two fundamental scalar type operators $\mathcal{O}_1, \mathcal{O}_2$ with the conformal weights Δ_1, Δ_2 and the charges ξ_1, ξ_2 respectively. The two-point functions read

The four-point function of $\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2\mathcal{O}_2$ is simply the product of two-point functions.

4.1 GGFTs from operator construction

In this subsection, we consider the spectrum and three-point coefficients in such GGFT by constructing the quasi-primary operators explicitly. We want to study the operator product expansion (OPE) of $\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2$. Due to the Wick theorem, only composite operators containing $\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2$ can appear in the expansion. Moreover, L_{-1}, M_{-1} which are the derivatives with respect to x, y can also appear in the construction. We give a detailed analysis of the number of the operators in appendix C. It turns out that the generating function of the total number of linear-independent operators at each level is

$$Z(q) = \frac{1}{(1-q)^4} = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} P(N)q^N.$$
(4.2)

where P(N) is the number of operators at level N with a weight $\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + N$. According to the appendix C, we list the information on the operators and the multiplets in the following table.

Level	0	1	2	3	4	
Number of operators	1	4	10	20	35	
Number of quasi-primaries	1	2	3	4	5	
Rank	1	2	3	4	5	
Number of multiplets	1	1	1	1	1	

Note that there is one multiplet at each level.

Let us construct the level 1 operators explicitly. At level 1, there are four linearly independent operators denoted by $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}, \mathcal{D}$, respectively,

$$\mathcal{A} : \mathcal{O}_1 M_{-1} \mathcal{O}_2, \quad \mathcal{B} : M_{-1} \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2$$
$$\mathcal{C} : \mathcal{O}_1 L_{-1} \mathcal{O}_2, \quad \mathcal{D} : L_{-1} \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2.$$

At level 1, there are two quasi-primary operators, which are the linear combination of the above four operators

$$\mathcal{P}_i = a_i \mathcal{A} + b_i \mathcal{B} + c_i \mathcal{C} + d_i \mathcal{D}, \quad i = 0, 1.$$
(4.3)

They should satisfy

$$L_1 \mathcal{P}_i = 0, \qquad M_1 \mathcal{P}_i = 0, \tag{4.4}$$

$$M_0 \mathcal{P}_0 = \xi_p \mathcal{P}_0 = (\xi_1 + \xi_2) \mathcal{P}_0, \qquad M_0 \mathcal{P}_1 = \xi_p \mathcal{P}_1 + \mathcal{P}_0,$$
 (4.5)

$$L_0 \mathcal{P}_0 = \Delta_p \mathcal{P}_0 = (\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + 1) \mathcal{P}_0, \qquad L_0 \mathcal{P}_1 = \Delta_p \mathcal{P}_1.$$
(4.6)

From acting the generators on $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}, \mathcal{D}$,

$$L_{1}C = 2\Delta_{2}O_{1}O_{2}, \qquad L_{1}D = 2\Delta_{1}O_{1}O_{2},$$

$$M_{1}C = 2\xi_{2}O_{1}O_{2}, \qquad M_{1}D = 2\xi_{1}O_{1}O_{2},$$

$$L_{1}A = 2\xi_{2}O_{1}O_{2}, \qquad L_{1}B = 2\xi_{1}O_{1}O_{2},$$

$$M_{1}A = 0, \qquad M_{1}B = 0,$$

$$M_{0}A = (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})A, \qquad M_{0}B = (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})B,$$

$$M_{0}C = (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})C + A, \qquad M_{0}D = (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})D + B,$$

one can obtain that

$$\mathcal{P}_0: a_0 = \xi_1, \qquad b_0 = -\xi_2, \qquad c_0 = d_0 = 0 \tag{4.7}$$

$$\mathcal{P}_1: a_1 = a, \quad b_1 = -\frac{a\xi_2}{\xi_1} - \frac{\Delta_2\xi_1 - \Delta_1\xi_2}{\xi_1}, \quad c_1 = \xi_1, \quad d_1 = -\xi_2.$$
(4.8)

Note that there is still one undetermined parameter a in \mathcal{P}_1 .

On the other hand, in order to define the composite operators properly and calculate their correlation functions, we may apply the point-splitting regularization,

$$(\mathcal{O}(x_1, y_1)\mathcal{O}(x_2, y_2))_{\mathbf{r}} = \lim_{\substack{x_2 \to x_1 \\ y_2 \to y_1}} \mathcal{OO} - \langle \mathcal{OO} \rangle$$
(4.9)

such that there is no singularities as $x_2 \to x_1$. Note that there is no singularities as $y_2 \to y_1$ in the two-point function, so we can simply take the same y. The above composite operators should be taken as the regularized ones. Now we can calculate the two-point functions of \mathcal{P}_0 and \mathcal{P}_1 ,

$$\langle \mathcal{P}_0 \mathcal{P}_0 \rangle = 0, \tag{4.10}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{P}_0 \rangle = de^{2(\xi_1 + \xi_2)y_{12}/x_{12}} x_{12}^{-2(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + 1)},$$
 (4.11)

$$\langle \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{P}_1 \rangle = \langle \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{P}_0 \rangle \frac{2y_{12}}{x_{12}} + \langle \mathcal{P}_1 \mathcal{P}_0 \rangle f(a),$$
 (4.12)

where $d = 2\xi_1\xi_2(\xi_1 + \xi_2)$ is the overall normalization. To normalize the two-point functions as required, one should choose a so that f(a) = 0. This leads to

$$a = \frac{\Delta_1 \xi_2^2 - \Delta_2 \xi_1(\xi_1 + 2\xi_2)}{2\xi_2(\xi_1 + \xi_2)}.$$
(4.13)

Let us turn to the multiple-point functions. There are two three-point functions. One is

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{P}_0 \rangle = ABC \tag{4.14}$$

where A and B share the same structure with (2.32) (2.33), and

$$C = c_0 = -2\xi_1\xi_2. \tag{4.15}$$

The other one is

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{P}_1 \rangle = ABc_1 + c_0 AB\partial_{\xi_p} \ln A \tag{4.16}$$

where

$$c_1 = -\frac{\Delta_2 \xi_1^2 + \Delta_1 \xi_2^2}{\xi_1 + \xi_2}.$$
(4.17)

For the four-point function $\langle \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2 \mathcal{O}_2 \rangle$, the contribution of the global block from the quasiprimary operators to the stripped four-point functions is

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \frac{1}{d} (A_0 g^{(0)}_{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + 1, \xi_1 + \xi_2} + A_1 g^{(1)}_{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2 + 1, \xi_1 + \xi_2}) + \dots$$
(4.18)

where the ellipsis represents the contributions from other levels, and

$$A_0 = 2c_0c_1, \quad A_1 = c_0^2. \tag{4.19}$$

To compare with the calculations using other methods where we consider the global block contribution to the *t*-channel of the stripped four point function with identical external operators \mathcal{O} , we take $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 \equiv \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}$, $\xi_1 = \xi_2 \equiv \xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ such that

$$\mathcal{G}(x,y) = \Delta_{\mathcal{O}} g_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{(0)} + \xi_{\mathcal{O}} g_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{(1)} + \cdots$$
(4.20)

Note that it shows just the explicit contribution from the level-1 quasi-primary operators. For the quasi-primary operators at higher levels, the construction becomes more and more tedious. We will use the inversion formula and double series expansion method to read the relevant information on the quasi-primary operators at higher levels.

4.2 Radial coordinates in Galilean CFT

In many cases, it turns out to be more convenient to work in radial coordinates in Galilean CFT. The configuration of four points is $p_1 = (-\rho, -\tau), p_2 = (\rho, \tau), p_3 = (1, 0), p_4 = (-1, 0),$ where $(\rho, \tau) \in D = (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}$. For simplicity, the slope $\kappa = \frac{\tau}{\rho} \in \mathbb{R}$ will be used. In terms of (ρ, κ) , the cross ratios $(x, y) \in (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}$ could be written as

$$x = \frac{x_{12}x_{34}}{x_{13}x_{24}} = \frac{4\rho}{(\rho+1)^2},$$

$$\frac{y}{x} = \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}} + \frac{y_{34}}{x_{34}} - \frac{y_{13}}{x_{13}} - \frac{y_{24}}{x_{24}} = \kappa \frac{1-\rho}{1+\rho},$$
(4.21)

and inversely

$$\rho = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - x}}{1 + \sqrt{1 - x}}, \quad \kappa = \frac{y}{x\sqrt{1 - x}}.$$
(4.22)

The conformal block with correct s-channel OPE behavior is

$$\chi_{\Delta,\xi} = \frac{x^{\Delta} (1 + \sqrt{1 - x})^{2 - 2\Delta}}{\sqrt{1 - x}} e^{\frac{-\xi y}{x\sqrt{1 - x}}}.$$
(4.23)

In terms of the radial coordinates it is of the form

$$\chi_{\Delta,\xi} = \frac{4}{1-\rho^2} \rho^{\Delta} e^{-\xi\kappa}.$$
(4.24)

Now the blocks for the multiplets are just

$$\chi_{\Delta,\xi,k} = \frac{4}{1-\rho^2} \rho^{\Delta} (-\kappa)^k e^{-\xi\kappa}, \qquad (4.25)$$

where $(-\kappa)$ is to keep the relation $\chi_k = \partial_{\xi}^k \chi$.

Notice that since $|\rho| < 1$, the *s*-channel block expansion is a possibly convergent series. To get convergence we need to control the coefficients further.

4.3 Taylor series expansion of four-point functions

In radial coordinates the block expansion has a simpler form, and for GGFT we can calculate the block coefficients of all orders by a Taylor series expansion. The *s*-channel conformal block expansion of four identical quasi-primary operators with the weight and charge $(\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}, \xi_{\mathcal{O}})$ is

$$\mathcal{G} = \frac{\langle \mathcal{OOOO} \rangle}{x^{-2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \exp\left(\frac{2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}y}{x}\right)} = \sum_{\Delta,\xi,k} P_{\Delta,\xi,k} \chi_{\Delta,\xi,k}.$$
(4.26)

In GGFT, it turns out that there is no $\xi = 0$ part and more restrictively, the ξ -spectrum contains only $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$. From the viewpoint of operator construction, the condition $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ is consistent with that only double trace operators, schematically $\mathcal{O}\partial_x^a \partial_y^b \mathcal{O}$, enter in the $\mathcal{O}\mathcal{O}$ OPE. Besides, the limiting procedure also suggests this spectrum, see section 4.6. Hence now the summation is over Δ and the multiplet number k,

$$\sum_{\Delta,k} P_{\Delta,k} \rho^{\Delta} (-\kappa)^k = \frac{1}{4} (1 - \rho^2) e^{\xi \kappa} \mathcal{G}.$$
(4.27)

For t-channel, we have

$$\operatorname{RHS} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} (1-\rho^2) (1-\rho)^{-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \rho^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \exp\left(-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}} \kappa \frac{2\rho}{1-\rho}\right).$$
(4.28)

For u-channel, we have

RHS =
$$2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2}(1-\rho^2)(1+\rho)^{-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}\rho^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}\exp\left(2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\kappa\frac{2\rho}{1+\rho}\right),$$
 (4.29)

which is related to t-channel by $\rho \to -\rho$, as in the case of CFT.

In the *t*-channel's contribution (4.28), apart from the $\rho^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}$ factor, the remaining part has a Taylor series expansion of ρ (an expansion of ρ^n , where $n \in \mathbb{N}$). So matching the left hand side of (4.27) to its right hand side (which is (4.28) for the *t*-channel), we get $\Delta_n = 2\Delta_O + n$. This is also true for the *u* channel's contribution (4.29). Now we calculate each channel separately, to compare it with the inversion formula and the operator construction method. The relation in the *t*-channel is,

$$\sum_{n,k} P_{n,k}^t \rho^n (-\kappa)^k = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} (1-\rho^2) (1-\rho)^{-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \exp\left(\frac{-4\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\kappa\rho}{1-\rho}\right)$$
(4.30)

The key feature is that κ only appears in exponential factor together with ρ due to the condition $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$. Also it is analytic at $\rho = 0$. Hence the summation range is $n \ge 0$ and $k = 0, \dots, n$. Expanding the right hand side we get the coefficients,

$$P_{n,k}^{t} = \frac{2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+2k-2}\xi_{\mathcal{O}}^{k}}{k!}A_{n,k}$$
(4.31)
where $A_{n,k}$ is a polynomial of $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}$ of degree n-k.

$$A_{n,k} = \frac{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + 2n - k - 2}{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 2} \binom{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 2}{n - k}$$
(4.32)

We list explicitly $A_{n,k}$ of the first few levels in order to compare with other methods.

$\begin{bmatrix} k\\ n \end{bmatrix}$	0	1	2	3
0	1			
1	$4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}$	1		
2	$8\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^2 + 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1$	$4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + 1$	1	
3	$\frac{32\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^3}{3} + 8\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^2 - \frac{8\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}{3}$	$8\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}^2 + 6\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}$	$4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + 2$	1

At level 1, we have,

$$P_{1,0}^{t} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}, \quad P_{1,1}^{t} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \xi_{\mathcal{O}}, \tag{4.33}$$

and the corresponding block expansion is,

$$\mathcal{G}_{t}(x,y) = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \chi_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}},0} + 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \xi_{\mathcal{O}} \chi_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}},1} + \cdots$$

= $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} g_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{(0)} + \xi_{\mathcal{O}} g_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{(1)} + \cdots$ (4.34)

where the different conventions of blocks are related by $g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(k)} = 2^{2\Delta-2}\chi_{\Delta,\xi,k}$. It matches the operator construction result (4.20).

Now it is easy to sum over the t and u channels:

$$P_{n,k}^{t+u} = \begin{cases} \frac{2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+2k-1}\xi_{\mathcal{O}}^{k}}{k!} \frac{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+2n-k-2}{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+n-2} \binom{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+n-2}{n-k}, & n \text{ is even} \\ 0, & n \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(4.35)

This is the result for the generalized free boson, and for the generalized free fermions we only need to interchange even and odd in the above formula.

4.4 Inversion function of GGFT

It is interesting that we are able to extract the spectrum data of generalized free theory, although the inversion function $I = (\Psi_{\Delta,\xi}, \mathcal{G})$ is divergent due to the pathological behaviors of two-point functions with non-vanishing $\operatorname{Re}\xi_{\mathcal{O}}^{19}$. Without lose of generality we assume $\operatorname{Re}\xi_{\mathcal{O}} > 0$ in this subsection.

The way out is to introduce a regularization, and analyticity ensures the results are cut-off free. We regularize the two-point functions by defining

$$\langle \mathcal{OO} \rangle_r \equiv \theta(r - \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}}) \langle \mathcal{OO} \rangle$$
 (4.36)

¹⁹As we will show in the next subsection, if we choose $\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ to be pure imaginary such that the inversion function is convergent in the sense of distribution, however, the result has no Δ poles related to the physical operators, closely relating to the fact that there is a branch cut in the ξ -plane in the inversion function.

which converges to $\langle \mathcal{OO} \rangle$ when $r \to +\infty$. And equivalently the integration region of inversion formula restricts to $D_r = (0,1) \times (-\infty,r)$. In the previous subsection we have known that the block expansion is analytic in D. The rigidity of analytic functions ensures that nothing will be changed if restricting to D_r , yet the inversion integral will be convergent.

To be concrete, the structure of regularized inversion function turns out to be

$$I_r(\Delta,\xi) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} P_{n,k}^{\text{inversion}} \frac{A(2-\Delta)}{(\Delta-\Delta_n)(\xi-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{k+1}} + \text{shadow poles} + \text{regular w.r.t. } \xi. \quad (4.37)$$

The shadow poles are from the three shadow blocks in $\Psi_{\Delta,\xi}$. The third term, contributed from $D_r \setminus D_0$ and $(1,2) \times \mathbb{R}$, though depends on r and contains the poles of Δ , is regular with ξ . If we deform the contour of Δ and ξ , only the first term I_1 gives non-vanishing contributions. The first term $I_{1,r}$ and also the shadow part are independent of r and remaining finite in the limit $r \to +\infty$ and we can safely evaluate it at r = 0, i.e.

$$I_{1,r=\infty} = I_{1,r=0} \tag{4.38}$$

which means taking D_0 as the integral region. Equivalently it is a unilateral Laplace transform.

Now let us calculate I_1 ,

$$I_1 = A(2 - \Delta)(\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \mathcal{G}_t)_{D_0}.$$
(4.39)

It is more convenient to transform the inversion integral into ρ coordinates. The integration region D_0 in radial coordinates is $(\rho, \kappa) \in (0, 1) \times (-\infty, 0)$, and we denote it also by D_0 . The inner product is,

$$(f,g) = \int_{D_0} dx dy \frac{1}{x^4} f^* g = \int_{D_0} d\rho d\kappa \frac{(1-\rho^2)^2}{16\rho^3} f^* g.$$
(4.40)

The input t-channel contribution is

$$\mathcal{G}_t = \frac{(1-x)^{-2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \exp\left(\frac{-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}y}{1-x}\right)}{x^{-2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \exp\left(\frac{2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}y}{x}\right)} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \left(\frac{\rho}{(1-\rho)^2}\right)^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} e^{-2\kappa\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\frac{1+\rho}{1-\rho}}.$$
(4.41)

The conformal partial wave is a linear combination of four blocks, but as we have discussed in (4.37), to read out the physical spectrum of GGFT we only need one of them. The block is $\chi_{\Delta,\xi} = \chi^*_{2-\Delta,-\xi}$, and

$$(\chi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}_t)_{D_0} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} \int_0^1 d\rho \rho^{-\Delta+2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} f(\rho)$$
(4.42)

in which κ has been integrated out: $\int_{-\infty}^{0} e^{\kappa a} = \frac{1}{a}$, and

$$f(\rho) = \frac{(1+\rho)(1-\rho)^{2-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}}{(1-\rho)\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}(1+\rho)}.$$
(4.43)

We will see that the independence of Δ in $f(\rho)$ simplifies the calculation drastically.

The integral (4.42) can be represented as an Appell function F_1 . However to figure out the analytic structure it is more convenient using the following method. Recall that ρ^{a-1} is a distribution on $\rho \in (0,1)$ and is meromorphic with respect to a, with poles at a = -n, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and the residues $\operatorname{Res}_{a=-n} = (-1)^n \frac{\delta^{(n)}(\rho)}{n!}$,

$$\int_{0}^{1} d\rho \rho^{a-1} \sum_{n} c_{n} \rho^{n} = \sum_{n} \frac{c_{n}}{a+n}$$
(4.44)

We use this to read the poles and the residues of Δ , and the ξ -pole structure automatically appears in the residues of Δ - there are multiple poles at $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ corresponding to the multiplets at each level, whose order ranges from 1 to n+1. To extract the pole structures we need to calculate the *n*-th derivatives of $f(\rho)$ at $\rho = 0$, and then expand them with respect to $\frac{1}{\xi-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}$. The result is

$$(\chi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}_t)_{D_0} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{1}{-\Delta + 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n} \frac{1}{(\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{k+1}} P_{n,k}^{t,\text{inversion}}$$
(4.45)

where,

$$P_{n,k}^{t,\text{inversion}} = k! P_{n,k}^t.$$

$$(4.46)$$

It matches with (4.31) obtained by the Taylor series expansion. The factorial k! is due to reading out the block expansion from higher order poles. And the clock-wise direction of contours with respect to ξ and Δ gives rise to two minus sign but totally $(-1)^2 = 1$. When reading out the spectrum data, we firstly deform the Δ -contour picking up the poles at Δ_n , and then deform the ξ -contour giving rise to multiplets.

4.5 Branch cut of inversion function

The order of ξ -poles in (4.45) is unbounded above as $n \to \infty$. This suggests that $\xi = 2\xi_O$ could be a logarithmic type branch point in ξ -plane. This fact could be shown explicitly if we change the order in doing the integrals. In the above discussion, we took the contour integrals first in Δ -plane and then in ξ -plane. If we take the ξ -contour integral first, we will find a discontinuity along the ξ -branch cut. With this discontinuity we can still recover the *t*-channel stripped four-point function, as we will show.

To see the branch cut we discuss a toy model firstly. Consider an improper integral of t,

$$\int_{0}^{1} dt \, \frac{1}{t-a} = \log\left(1 - \frac{1}{a}\right). \tag{4.47}$$

It has a branch cut with respect to a at (0, 1). This is because when $a \in (0, 1)$ the integrand should be understood as a distribution, and the ambiguity of definition comes into play,

$$\frac{1}{t-a\pm i\epsilon} = \mathrm{PV}(\frac{1}{t-a}) \mp \pi i\delta(t-a).$$
(4.48)



Figure 2: The analytic structure of $(\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \mathcal{G}_t)_{D_0}$. From the ξ -viewpoint, it has a branch cut, while from Δ -viewpoint it has double trace multiple poles.

This is also the Fourier transform (integral with respect to κ) of Heaviside step function supporting on $\mathbb{R}^{>0}$ or $\mathbb{R}^{<0}$. And the discontinuity is just twice the integration of the imaginary part,

$$\operatorname{Disc} = \int_0^1 dt 2\pi i \delta(t-a). \tag{4.49}$$

For the inversion function I_1 , which is proportional to (4.42), there is a singularity in $f(\rho)$, Eq. (4.43), lying at

$$\rho_{\rm sing} = \frac{\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}{\xi + 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}},\tag{4.50}$$

and the resulting branch cut in ξ -plane is along $\xi \in (2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}, +\infty)$. Then the discontinuity is,

$$Disc (\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \mathcal{G}_t)_{D_0} = 2\pi i \, 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} \int_0^1 d\rho \rho^{-\Delta+2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \frac{(1+\rho)(1-\rho)^{2-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}}{-(\xi+2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})} \delta\left(\rho-\rho_{\rm sing}\right) \\ = -2\pi i \, 2^{-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+3} \, \xi \xi_{\mathcal{O}}^{2-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}(\xi-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-\Delta-1}(\xi+2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{\Delta+2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-3}.$$
(4.51)

Now if we reverse the order of doing Δ and ξ integrals, opposed to the ones in the previous

subsection, using (3.52) and enclosing the ξ -contour onto the branch cut, we get,

$$\mathcal{G}_{t} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\Delta}} d\Delta \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\xi}} d\xi \; (\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \mathcal{G}_{t})_{D_{0}} \chi_{\Delta,\xi}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\Delta}} d\Delta \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{\infty} d\xi \operatorname{Disc} (\chi_{\Delta,\xi}, \mathcal{G}_{t})_{D_{0}} \chi_{\Delta,\xi}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{\Delta}} d\Delta \int_{2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{\infty} d\xi K(\xi) \frac{1}{1-\rho^{2}} \rho^{\Delta} e^{-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\kappa}$$
(4.52)

where the integrand $K(\xi)$ is

$$K(\xi) = -2^{-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+5}\xi\xi_{\mathcal{O}}^{2-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}(\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-\Delta-1}(\xi + 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{\Delta+2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-3}e^{-(\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})\kappa}.$$
(4.53)

Notice that the factor $(\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-\Delta-1}$ plays the role of $\rho^{-\Delta+2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1}$ in (4.42), and provides the double-trace poles $\frac{1}{\Delta-\Delta_n}$. And there are no contributions of double-trace poles from $\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}} \to \infty$ due to the exponential decay.

To check (4.52) indeed recovers the *t*-channel contribution \mathcal{G}_t , we borrow the identity of confluent hypergeometric function ${}_1F_1$ and get,

$$\int_{2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}^{\infty} d\xi K(\xi) = k_1(\Delta) \,\Gamma(2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - \Delta) + k_2 \tag{4.54}$$

where,

$$k_{1}(\Delta) = \frac{2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1}\Gamma\left(2-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}\right)}{\Gamma\left(-\Delta-2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+3\right)} \left(\left(2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1\right){}_{1}F_{1}\left(2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-\Delta,4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2;4\kappa\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\right)\right) + \left(\Delta-2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}\right){}_{1}F_{1}\left(-\Delta+2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+1,4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1;4\kappa\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\right)\right) \quad (4.55)$$

and the k_2 -term contains no poles of Δ . The factor $\Gamma(2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - \Delta)$ of k_1 -term gives double trace poles Δ_n , with residue $\frac{(-1)^n}{n!}$. After doing the Δ -contour integration, the clock-wise contour of Δ gives an extra minus sign (-1), and the right hand side of (4.52) is,

RHS =
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n!} k_1(\Delta_n) \frac{1}{1-\rho^2} \rho^{\Delta_n} e^{-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\kappa}$$
 (4.56)

where $k_1(\Delta_n)$ is a polynomial of κ since ${}_1F_1(-n, a; z)$ truncates to the generalized Laguerre polynomials. Now we can re-expand with respect to κ and get back to the Taylor series expansion of \mathcal{G}_t .

Finally we discuss the subtlety of inversion integral for purely imaginary²⁰ $\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$. In this case the inversion integral is convergent in $D = (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}$ since the part involving y is only a phase factor, giving rise to a delta function of x, and the integral

$$(\chi_{\Delta,\xi},\mathcal{G}_t)_D \sim \xi(\xi - 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - \Delta - 1} (\xi + 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})^{\Delta + 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 3}$$
(4.57)

 $^{^{20}}$ The physical operators lie on the unitary principal series, which also happens in celestial CFTs, see e.g. [60].

has no double-trace pole structures and coincides with (4.51). This is because for purely imaginary $\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ we can freely choose the integration region as D_0 or $D \setminus D_0 = (0, 1) \times (0, +\infty)$ since both are convergent. Adding these two up we get the result (4.57) and lose track of pole structures coming from $PV(\frac{1}{t-a})$ in (4.48).

4.6 Limit for GGFT

Now, we show how to reach the GGFT by taking the limit on a 2d GFT. Our starting point will be the block expansion of a four-point function of four identical fundamental operators (we use the same notation \mathcal{O} for this operator) with the same quantum numbers $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}$ and $J_{\mathcal{O}}$ in a GFT. In 2d, such a correlator can be easily analysed by its factorization property, namely, it can be factorized into holomorphic and anti-holomorphic sectors. In each sector, the theory is a generalized free theory. For simplicity, we will focus on the identity in t channel, which has the following form:

$$1^{(t)} = \left(\frac{z}{1-z}\right)^{2h_{\mathcal{O}}} \left(\frac{\bar{z}}{1-\bar{z}}\right)^{2\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}}}$$
(4.58)

where h_0 and \bar{h}_0 are the input quantum number and satisfy:

$$h_{\mathcal{O}} + \bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} = \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}, \qquad h_{\mathcal{O}} - \bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} = J_{\mathcal{O}}.$$
 (4.59)

The holomorphic part has a block expansion with respect to the $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ symmetry:

$$\left(\frac{z}{1-z}\right)^{2h_{\mathcal{O}}} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n G_n(z) \tag{4.60}$$

where $G_n(z)$ is the conformal block corresponding to a double trace operator with dimension $h_n = 2h_{\mathcal{O}} + n$ and

$$a_n = \frac{(2h_{\mathcal{O}})_n^2}{n!(4h_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 1)_n}.$$
(4.61)

The same thing holds for the anti-holomorphic part. So we have:

$$\left(\frac{z}{1-z}\right)^{2h_{\mathcal{O}}} \left(\frac{\bar{z}}{1-\bar{z}}\right)^{2\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}}} = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} a_n \bar{a}_m G_n(z) G_m(\bar{z}).$$
(4.62)

Now we take a limit on both sides of the equation (4.62). The limit is defined by setting

$$z = x + \epsilon y, \quad \bar{z} = x - \epsilon y, \quad \Delta = h + \bar{h}, \quad \xi = \epsilon (h - \bar{h}) = \epsilon J$$

$$(4.63)$$

and taking the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit while keeping ξ to be finite. It is easy to work out the left-hand side of (4.62) after taking $\epsilon \to 0$:

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\frac{z}{1-z}\right)^{2h_{\mathcal{O}}} \left(\frac{\bar{z}}{1-\bar{z}}\right)^{2\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}}} = \left(\frac{x}{1-x}\right)^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} e^{-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\frac{y}{x(1-x)}},\tag{4.64}$$

which is just what we want: the identity part of the t channel correlator in GGFT.

Next we deal with the right-hand side of (4.62). First, we want to know which operators appear in the block expansion. The quantum numbers of double trace operators in 2d GFT are:

$$h_n = 2h_{\mathcal{O}} + n, \qquad h_m = 2h_{\mathcal{O}} + m, \qquad n, m \in N.$$

$$(4.65)$$

After taking the limit, we have:

$$\Delta = 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n + m, \qquad \xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}} + \epsilon(n - m) \tag{4.66}$$

We see that the spectrum of Δ is ϵ independent, while the ξ spectrum depends on ϵ . The point here is when we take the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit, the spectrum of ξ is localized to $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ and the Δ spectrum always stay at the "double trace" location, which is just the result of the previous sections.

However, here comes a question: how do multiplets appear in this procedure? The answer is that we need to count the small shift of ϵ , namely, we should expand the block at $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}} + \epsilon(n-m)$ in terms of the block at $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$. Then, one naturally obtain the terms of some derivatives with respect to ξ of the singlet blocks. The crucial point here is that even at the higher order of the ϵ expansion, these terms indeed give finite contributions, due to the combination of the $\frac{1}{\epsilon}$ factor in the coefficients $a_n \bar{a}_m$ under the limit. Furthermore, all the superficially divergent terms cancel with each other, and the coefficient function only has terms of finite order in $\frac{1}{\epsilon}$, which gives a truncation of the rank of the multiplets. The above analysis indeed has two kinds of ϵ corrections: one comes from the order $O(\epsilon)$ shift of ξ away from $2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$, as mentioned above. While the other comes from higher order corrections in ϵ for a 2d conformal blocks:

$$G_n(z)G_m(\bar{z}) = g_{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+n+m,2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}+\epsilon(n-m)} + O(\epsilon)$$
(4.67)

where $g_{\Delta_{n+m},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}+\epsilon(n-m)}$ is the GCA singlet block. Both these two kinds of ϵ corrections are possible to give finite contributions when combining with higher $\frac{1}{\epsilon}$ order terms in the coefficients a_n and \bar{a}_m . In the argument above, we have only concerned about the first one, as the second kind of correction is always at higher order in ϵ in the calculation and does not contribute. The final picture is that the limit of the right-hand side of (4.62) is well defined and match perfectly with our pervious calculation!

Let us illustrate the picture by showing several leading terms. Denoting $G_{h,\bar{h}}$ as the 2d conformal block, we relabel it as $G_{\Delta,\xi}$ according to (4.63). The leading term corresponds to n + m = 0 which requires n = m = 0, and has:

$$\Delta = 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}, \quad \xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}, \quad a_0\bar{a}_0 = 1.$$

This is just the singlet block in the previous sections. The next-to-leading terms correspond to n + m = 1, which requires

$$n = 1, m = 0,$$
 or $n = 0, m = 1,$

then the two terms contribute to:

$$a_{1}\bar{a}_{0}(G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}) + a_{0}\bar{a}_{1}(G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} - \epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})$$

$$= \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \xi_{\mathcal{O}}\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}$$

$$= \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}[g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + O(\epsilon)] + \xi_{\mathcal{O}}\partial_{\xi}[g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + O(\epsilon)]$$

$$\stackrel{\epsilon \to 0}{=} \Delta_{\mathcal{O}}g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \xi_{\mathcal{O}}\partial_{\xi}g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}.$$
(4.68)

This is the contribution from the rank 2 multiplet in the previous section. From above analysis it is obvious that the second kind of corrections is at higher order in ϵ . When we go to the higher orders, some possible divergences appear. Interestingly, these terms cancel with each other. For example, at rank 3, the three possible terms are:

$$a_{2}\bar{a}_{0}\left(G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+2\epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+\frac{(2\epsilon)^{2}}{2!}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)+a_{1}\bar{a}_{1}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}$$

$$+a_{0}\bar{a}_{2}\left(G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}-2\epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+\frac{(2\epsilon)^{2}}{2!}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)+O(\epsilon) \qquad (4.69)$$

$$=A_{0}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+A_{1}\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+A_{2}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+O(\epsilon)$$

$$\stackrel{\epsilon\to0}{=}A_{0}g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+A_{1}\partial_{\xi}g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}+A_{2}\partial_{\xi}^{2}g_{\Delta_{1},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}.$$

It is easy to see that A_2 has no divergence. For A_0 and A_1 , one can find the potential divergence disappear due to the cancellation. In general, the terms with k = n are not divergent, while the terms with k < n consist of superficially divergent terms which cancel with each other such that these terms are finite as well. One can prove this cancelation precisely and find the final results are identical to the ones obtained before. The details of the proof can be found in the appendix D.

5 Tauberian theorem and the spectral density

The tauberian theory plays an important role in the modern conformal bootstrap program [61, 9, 62, 63] (see [24] for the Schrodinger case). In this section, we want to use it to estimate the spectral density. The ρ and κ coordinates will simplify our discussion here as well. The key point is that the stripped four-point function in t channel is dominated by the identity operator in the $x \to 1$ (or $\rho \to 1$) limit. This allows us to use the Hardy-Littlewood tauberian theorem to estimate the spectral density.

Because the y (or κ) dependence is always exponential, we want to expand it and match the asymptotical behaviour near x = 1 (or $\rho = 1$) in each order of y (or κ). We will see that tauberian theorem can be used in each order. The crossing equations are:

$$\frac{1}{x^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}}e^{2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\frac{y}{x}}\sum_{\Delta,\xi,k}b_{\Delta,\xi,k}g^{(k)}_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y) = (x \to 1-x, y \to -y)$$
(5.1)

where we pack the dynamical data into the coefficient $b_{\Delta,\xi,n}$, and the GCA block is:

$$g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(k)}(x,y) = 2^{2\Delta-2} \chi_{\Delta,\xi,k}(x,y) = 2^{2\Delta-2} \partial_{\xi}^k \chi_{\Delta,\xi}(x,y).$$
(5.2)

Our strategy is to expand both sides in y and match the asymptotical behaviour at $x \to 1$ order by order. In the t channel, the general block is:

$$g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(k,t)}(x,y) = g_{\Delta,\xi}^{(k)}(1-x,-y) = 2^{2\Delta-2} \frac{(1-x)^{\Delta}(1+\sqrt{x})^{2-2\Delta}}{\sqrt{x}} e^{\xi \frac{y}{(1-x)\sqrt{x}}} (\frac{y}{(1-x)\sqrt{x}})^k.$$
(5.3)

Moving the input factor on the left-hand side to the right, we have the prefactor (which is just the t channel identity because $g_{identity}^{(t)}=1$)

$$\frac{x^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}}{(1-x)^{2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}}}e^{-2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}\frac{y}{x(1-x)}}.$$
(5.4)

Now we look at the $x \to 1$ behaviour. Expanding both sides in y, we can get the asymptotical behaviour near x = 1 from the right-hand side. In fact, at each order of y, the $x \to 1$ behaviour is controlled by the *t*-channel identity only. For example, in the y^0 order, the identity gives the most singular power law behaviour so we have (we use \mathcal{G}^{y^k} or \mathcal{G}^{κ^k} denote the *k*-th order part of the four-point function in the following):

$$\mathcal{G}^{y^0} \sim (1-x)^{-2\Delta_\mathcal{O}}.\tag{5.5}$$

When we go to the higher order of y, in both the prefactor and the GCA (t channel) blocks, y is always combined with a power law term $\frac{1}{1-x}$, so at each order of y, the identity always dominates near x = 1. At the order y^k , the asymptotical behaviour near x = 1 is

$$\mathcal{G}^{y^k} \sim (1-x)^{-2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-k}.$$
(5.6)

Then we can estimate the spectral density for each order. We use the ρ and κ coordinates to make the argument more explicitly. In these coordinates, all the argument above is still valid, except that now we expand in κ and look at the $\rho \rightarrow 0$ behaviour. For technical reason, we need to write every κ^k part of the four-point function as the Laplace transform of a "weighted spectral density". This allows us to use the Hardy-Littlewood tauberian theorem in its general

form, otherwise we need to rewrite the theorem in a different form. It turns out that²¹

$$\mathcal{G}^{\kappa^k}(\beta) = \int_0^\infty d\Delta f^{(k)}(\Delta) e^{-\beta\Delta}$$
(5.7)

where $e^{-\beta} = \rho$ and $f^{(k)}(\Delta)$ is the spectral density function. Because the GCA block in ρ coordinate has a simple power-law form, one can easily read the spectral density function $f^{(k)}(\Delta)$ from the dynamical coefficient $b_{\Delta,\xi,k}$. For example, at order κ^0 the spectral density function $f^{(0)}(\Delta)$ for the GGFT is

$$f^{(0)}(\Delta) = \sum_{n} P_{n,0}^{t} \delta(\Delta - \Delta_{n})$$
(5.8)

where $P_{n,0}^t$ is the GGFT coefficient (4.31). Note that for GGFT, ξ is fixed to be $2\xi_0$. Generically, $f^{(k)}(\Delta)$ will include the contributions from all possible ξ for the specific Δ . For the higher order of κ , the contributions from the multiplets should be included in $f^{(k)}(\Delta)$. At order κ^0 , from the *t* channel, we know that as $\rho \to 1$ (that is, $\beta \to 0$)

$$\mathcal{G}^{\kappa^0}(\beta) \sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} (1-\rho)^{1-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \beta^{1-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} \qquad (\beta \to 0).$$
(5.9)

We may define the integrated spectral density function

$$F(\Delta) \equiv \int_0^{\Delta} d\Delta' f^{(0)}(\Delta').$$
(5.10)

Then by the Hardy-Littlewood tauberian theorem, we get:

$$F(\Delta) \sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \frac{\Delta^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}})}, \qquad (\Delta \to \infty).$$
 (5.11)

There remains an important question: does the condition of tauberian theorem hold in the GCA case? For the case of CFT, thanks to the unitarity, the spectral density function is always non-negative so the tauberian theorem is valid. Our theory is generically not unitary, so we have no convincing argument to show the validness of the tauberian theorem at present. However, note that the condition for the tauberian theorem is actually more relaxed than the non-negativity of spectral density function, it is (see Theorem I.15.3 in [64]):

$$f^{(0)}(\Delta) \ge -C\Delta^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} \tag{5.12}$$

where $C \ge 0$ is some constant, and the above condition need only to hold for sufficiently large Δ ($\Delta' \le \Delta \le \infty$ for some $\Delta' \ge 0$). This condition seems gentle, and our result for the integrated spectral density is only valid for those theories who satisfy this condition. In

²¹In the following of this section, by saying a four point function or its κ^k order part, we always multiply them an additional factor $\frac{1-\rho^2}{4}$ because we want the ρ dependence of the expanding block become a single pure power law.

fact, we have checked that GGFTs marginally satisfy this condition in the appendix E. As a result, we also have checked that the integrated spectral density of the GGFT has the above asymptotical behaviour.

Just as in the CFT case, we can actually discuss the error estimates in the Hardy-Littlewood asymptotics [61]. The error is controlled by $\Delta *$, the lowest dimension of operators in the $\mathcal{O} \times \mathcal{O}$ OPE.

$$\mathcal{G}^{\kappa^0}(\beta) = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1} \beta^{1 - 4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} (1 + O(\beta^{\Delta^*})).$$
(5.13)

As usual, this power-suppressed error will not translate into a power-suppressed error term for the integrated spectral density function. Instead, the best possible error estimate is only logarithmic:

$$F(\Delta) = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \frac{\Delta^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}})} (1 + O(1/\log\Delta)).$$
(5.14)

6 Shadow formalism and alpha space approach

In CFT we have several approaches to the inversion formula besides the harmonic analysis, one of which is the shadow formalism [65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 48]. In this section we set the stage for the shadow formalism of Galilean CFT. Besides, in one and two dimensions there is another slightly different method of diagonalizing the Casimir equations named the alpha space method [50, 71], where an unusual boundary condition at z = 1 is selected and the Hilbert space is supported only on $z \in (0, 1)$. Unlike the situation in CFT, we find that in GCFT, the alpha space approach could be related to the shadow formalism.

6.1 Shadow formalism of GCFT

The starting point of the shadow formalism is the shadow transform, an intertwining operator between two principal series representations of the conformal group. Another highlighting concept is the Plancherel measure, a canonical measure on the unitary dual of the conformal group, appearing in the decomposition of the regular representation as a direct integral of unitary irreducible representations. In the following we explore on similar objects of the Galilean conformal group ISO(2, 1).

After analytic continuing the dimensions of a bosonic primary operator \mathcal{O} onto the principal series $(\Delta = 1 + is, \xi = ir), r \in \mathbb{R}^*, s \in \mathbb{R}^{22}$, we can construct a shadow operator $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}$, non-local

 $^{^{22}\}text{For }\xi=0,$ the discussion is the same as in $\text{CFT}_1,$ hence we focus on the $\xi\neq 0$ sector.

with respect to \mathcal{O} ,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x,y) &= A(\Delta,r) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx' dy' \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x,y) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x',y') \rangle \mathcal{O}(x',y') \\ &= A(\Delta,r) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx' dy' \frac{1}{|x-x'|^{4-2\Delta}} e^{-2ir\frac{y-y'}{x-x'}} \mathcal{O}(x',y') \end{split}$$

transforming as an primary operator of weight $(2 - \Delta, -\xi)$. The undetermined pre-factor $A(\Delta, r)$ is to ensure the equivalence of two representations $\tilde{\mathcal{O}} = \mathcal{O}$, or equivalently

$$\int dxdy \,\langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_1, y_1)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x, y)\rangle \langle \mathcal{O}(x, y)\mathcal{O}(x_2, y_2)\rangle = \frac{\delta(x_1 - x_2)\delta(y_1 - y_2)}{A(\Delta, r)A(2 - \Delta, -r)}.$$
(6.1)

This leads to the vertex-graph identity,

$$\langle \phi(x_1, y_1)\phi(x_2, y_2)\mathcal{O}(x, y)\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx_0 dy_0 \langle \phi(x_1, y_1)\phi(x_2, y_2)\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_0, y_0)\rangle \langle \mathcal{O}(x_0, y_0)\mathcal{O}(x, y)\rangle.$$
(6.2)

Actually, from (6.1), we can read its left-hand side

LHS =
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dy \, |x - x_1|^{-2\Delta} |x - x_2|^{2\Delta - 4} e^{-2ir \frac{y(x_1 - x_2) + x(y_1 - y_2) + x_1y_2 - x_2y_1}{(x - x_1)(x - x_2)}}$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{|r|} \delta(x_1 - x_2) \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, |x - x_1|^{-2} e^{-2ir \frac{y_1 - y_2}{x - x_1}}$$
$$= \frac{\pi^2}{r^2} \delta(x_1 - x_2) \delta(y_1 - y_2), \tag{6.3}$$

where in the first line the integration of y contributes to $\delta(x_1 - x_2)$, in the second line the simplification is due to $x_1 = x_2$ and in the last line we change the variable $\frac{1}{x-x_1} = t$. This determines $A(\Delta, r) = \frac{i|r|}{\pi}$.

There are several remarkable points:

- All the terms are distributional and hence are taken as principal values or as analytic continuations if necessary. For $\xi = 0$ the integral is divergent due to the reducibility of representations (or null states), and we need to adopt the shadow transform of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$.
- For $4 2\Delta = -2n 1$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the distribution $|x|^{-2n-1}$ in the shadow transform seems to be ill-defined as in 1d CFT, where this phenomenon corresponds to the discrete series of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$. Here the key point is that we must integrate out y firstly, then the apparent divergence due to $|x|^{-2n-1}$ disappears and $\Gamma(\Delta)$ -like factors do not appear in $A(\Delta, r)$.
- The condition of principal series $(\Delta = 1 + is, \xi = ir), r \in \mathbb{R}^*, s \in \mathbb{R}$ means that the representation admits an inner product,

$$(\mathcal{O}_1, \mathcal{O}_2) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dy \, (\mathcal{O}_1(x, y))^* \mathcal{O}_2(x, y) \tag{6.4}$$

which is invariant under (2.8).

- The factor A(Δ, r)A(2 − Δ, −r) ~ r², compared with CFT, should be proportional to the Plancherel measure[18]. We find in page 114 of [72] the Plancherel measure of Poincare group. The measure of massive and tachyonic representations have non-vanishing supports on the unitary dual, and our result matches the tachyonic ones up to numerical factors.
- The co-adjoint orbits (mass-shell) of tachyonic representations are one-sheeted hyperboloids, and imaginary mass $im \leftrightarrow -im$ label the same representation. Our shadow transform $\xi \leftrightarrow -\xi$ shares the similar feature.

As in CFT, the partial waves for four identical primary operators ϕ with $(\Delta_0, r_0), r_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ can be constructed as (we use the same notation Ψ here),

$$\Psi_{\Delta,ir}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\langle \phi_1 \phi_2 \rangle \langle \phi_3 \phi_4 \rangle} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx_5 dy_5 \langle \phi_1 \phi_2 \mathcal{O}_{\Delta,ir}(x_5,y_5) \rangle \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x_5,y_5) \phi_3 \phi_4 \rangle \tag{6.5}$$

where $r \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$, $\phi_i = \phi(x_i, y_i)$. The detailed evaluation of (6.5) is as follows:

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{\Delta,ir}(x,y) &= \frac{1}{\langle \phi_1 \phi_2 \rangle \langle \phi_3 \phi_4 \rangle} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx_5 dy_5 \, \langle \phi_1 \phi_2 O_{\Delta,ir}(x_5,y_5) \rangle \langle \tilde{O}(x_5,y_5) \phi_3 \phi_4 \rangle \\ &= A(\Delta,r) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx_5 dy_5 \, \left(\frac{|x_{12}|}{|x_{15}||x_{25}|} \right)^{\Delta} \left(\frac{|x_{34}|}{|x_{35}||x_{45}|} \right)^{2-\Delta} e^{-ir \left(\frac{y_{15}}{x_{15}} + \frac{y_{25}}{x_{25}} - \frac{y_{35}}{x_{45}} - \frac{y_{45}}{x_{45}} + \frac{y_{34}}{x_{34}} - \frac{y_{12}}{x_{12}} \right) \\ &= A(\Delta,r) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx_5 dy_5 \, \left(\frac{|x|}{|x_5||x_-x_5|} \right)^{\Delta} |1 - x_5|^{\Delta-2} e^{-ir \left(y_5 \frac{x_5^2 - 2x_5 + x}{x_5(x-x_5)(1-x_5)} + \frac{y}{x} \frac{x_5}{x-x_5} \right)} \end{split}$$

where $r \in \mathbb{R}^*$, $\phi_i = \phi(x_i, y_i)$. In the third line we have fixed the gauge to the standard conformal frame by conformal covariance. Since the exponential factor is just a phase, the integration of y_5 gives a delta function,

$$\delta\left(r\frac{x_5^2 - 2x_5 + x}{x_5(x - x_5)(1 - x_5)}\right) = \frac{1}{|r|} \frac{|x_5(x - x_5)(1 - x_5)|}{|x_+ - x_-|} \left(\delta(x_5 - x_+) + \delta(x_5 - x_-)\right)$$

where $x_{\pm} = 1 \pm \sqrt{1-x}$. Then the resulting partial waves are

$$\Psi_{\Delta,ir}(x,y) = \frac{i\,\mathrm{sign}(r)}{2\pi} \left(\frac{x^{\Delta}(1+\sqrt{1-x})^{2-2\Delta}}{\sqrt{1-x}} e^{-ir\frac{y}{x\sqrt{1-x}}} + (\Delta \to 2-\Delta, r \to -r) \right)$$
(6.6)

The conformal blocks can be split out by different monodromy around x = 0 as in [70]. However notice that the second delta function in (6.6) is located in $x_5 \in (1, \infty)$. If we restrict the integration region to $x_5 \in (0, 1)$, the physical block is automatically selected. And this also happens in 1d CFT. In higher dimensional CFT, we pick out the physical block by changing the integration region to Lorentzian spacetime $x_5 \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1,1}$.

There are several different features from the harmonic analysis in section 3. The shadow integral (6.5) vanishes in x > 1. The shadow integral automatically guarantees that the partial

waves are eigenfunctions of the Casimir operators, restricting the ones in $(1, \infty)$ to zero. The discrete partial waves at $\Delta = \frac{5}{2} + n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ are absent and the boundary condition at x = 1 is different.

6.2 Alpha space approach to GCFT

The alpha space approach in CFT is defined by solving the Sturm-Liouville problem of the Casimir operators restricted in the region $z \in (0, 1)$, leading to an integral transform slightly different from the inversion formula. We seek a similar transform for Galilean CFT.

Now we restrict the region to $(x, y) \in D = (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}$ mimicking the alpha space method, and in radial coordinates²³ the region is $(\rho, \kappa) \in (0, 1) \times \mathbb{R}$ denoted also by D. The Casimir equations are

$$C_{1}: \qquad \left(\partial_{\kappa}^{2}-\xi^{2}\right)f_{\Delta,\xi}(\rho,\kappa)=0,$$

$$C_{2}: \qquad \left(\rho\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\kappa}-\frac{1+\rho^{2}}{1-\rho^{2}}\partial_{\kappa}+\xi(\Delta-1)\right)f_{\Delta,\xi}(\rho,\kappa)=0.$$
(6.7)

By changing of variables $f_{\Delta,\xi}(\rho,\kappa) = \frac{1-\rho^2}{\rho} h_{\Delta,\xi}(\rho,\kappa)$ and $t = -\log \rho \in (0, +\infty)$ the new region is denoted by $(t,\kappa) \in D = (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}$, and we get,

$$C_1: \qquad \left(\partial_{\kappa}^2 - \xi^2\right) h_{\Delta,\xi}(t,\kappa) = 0,$$

$$C_2: \qquad \left(\partial_t \partial_{\kappa} - \xi(\Delta - 1)\right) h_{\Delta,\xi}(t,\kappa) = 0,$$
(6.8)

and the general solutions are linear combinations of,

$$h_{\Delta,\xi}(t,\kappa) = e^{(\Delta-1)t} e^{\xi\kappa},$$

$$h_{2-\Delta,-\xi}(t,\kappa) = e^{(1-\Delta)t} e^{-\xi\kappa}.$$
(6.9)

The measure and inner product are simplified to,

$$(f,g) = \int_D dx dy \frac{1}{x^4} f^* g = \int_0^\infty dt \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\kappa f^* g.$$
(6.10)

Now we need to specify the boundary conditions. Formally this is to determine possible selfadjoint extensions of symmetric operators, see eg. chapter 10 of [73]. The quadratic Casimir C_1 sets $\xi = ir, r \in \mathbb{R}$ as before. Then the Hermitian condition of C_2 is

$$(C_2 f, g) - (f, C_2 g) = \int_0^\infty dt \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\kappa \left[\partial_t (\partial_\kappa f^* g) - \partial_\kappa (f^* \partial_t g)\right]$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} d\kappa \left(\partial_\kappa f^*(0, \kappa)\right) g(0, \kappa).$$
(6.11)

²³For the Harmonic analysis in section 3, the transformation to radial coordinates are piece-wise defined in the region $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and we get no simplification.

In the second line, other boundary terms have been dropped by the fall-off conditions at infinity, leading to $\Delta = 1 + is$.

To make the remaining boundary term in (6.11) vanish, we need to choose a specific boundary condition at t = 0, and then check if this condition leads to a self-adjoint extension of C_2 . As we will show later there are infinitely many in-equivalent boundary conditions corresponding to different self-adjoint extensions. We pick one of them to match the result of shadow formalism,

$$f(0,\kappa) = f(0,-\kappa), \qquad g(0,\kappa) = g(0,-\kappa),$$
 (6.12)

namely, boundary values are even functions of κ . Then the basis are $(h_{\Delta,\xi} + h_{2-\Delta,-\xi})$, and back to the (x, y) coordinates, are,

$$\Psi_{\Delta,r} = \chi_{\Delta,\xi} + \chi_{2-\Delta,-\xi},\tag{6.13}$$

in which the normalization is fixed by,

$$(\Psi_1, \Psi_2) = 4\pi^2 \delta(r_1 - r_2) \delta(s_1 - s_2).$$
(6.14)

In fact, we need to use the theory of self-adjoint extension of unbounded operators [73]. Recall that the deficiency subspaces of a closed symmetric operator A are defined by

$$D_{+} = \ker(A^{\dagger} - i),$$

$$D_{-} = \ker(A^{\dagger} + i),$$
(6.15)

and different self-adjoint extensions A_U correspond to different unitary operators U from D_+ to D_- . Then the domain of A_U is spanned by

$$D(A_U) = \{ \phi + \phi_+ + U(\phi_+) : \phi \in D(A), \, \phi_+ \in D_+ \} \,, \tag{6.16}$$

and the action of A_U are extended by

$$A_U(\phi + \phi_+ + U(\phi_+)) = A(\phi) + i\phi_+ - iU(\phi_+).$$
(6.17)

Now for C_2 , starting from $D(C_2) = \{f \in L^2(D) : f(0, \kappa) = 0\}$, the deficiency subspaces are

$$D_{+} = \left\{ h_{a,+}(t,\kappa) = e^{-t/a} e^{-ia\kappa} : a > 0 \right\},$$

$$D_{-} = \left\{ h_{a,-}(t,\kappa) = e^{-t/a} e^{ia\kappa} : a > 0 \right\}.$$
 (6.18)

Any unitary operator from D_+ to D_- leads to a different boundary condition. We choose U such that $U(h_{a,+}) = h_{a,-}$ then,

$$D(C_{2,U}) = \{f + h_{a,+} + h_{a,-} : f \in D(C_2), h_{a,\pm} \in D_{\pm}\},$$
(6.19)

then for a generic function $f \in D(C_{2,U})$ we have f(0,k) = f(0,-k), matching with (6.12). As a result we can construct an alpha space method sharing similar features with the shadow formalism in Galilean CFT₂. This is different from the case in CFT.

7 Conclusion and Discussions

In this work, we tried to develop Galilean conformal bootstrap, paying special attention to its analytical aspects. A general Galilean conformal field theory is not unitary. Even though all the primary operators have positive conformal dimensions, the quasi-primary states have negative norms. Such a non-unitarity is mild in the sense that the primary states are always of positive norm²⁴. Our study suggests that the conformal bootstrap might still be viable. In particular we showed that analytic Galilean bootstrap is valid, at least for generalized Galilean free theory.

Our study on the Galilean conformal bootstrap is based on the global symmetry. One reason is that the local GCA block is unknown and the infinite dimensional symmetry cannot be applied. Nevertheless, there appear some novel features in our study. Due to the presence of multiplets, their contribution should be taken into account appropriately. Our first study was on the multiplets and their multi-point functions. Especially we computed the global blocks of the multiplets and showed how the four-point functions can be expanded in terms of these global blocks. The appearance of multiplets is an essential feature in Galilean conformal bootstrap.

Our second study was on the harmonic analysis of GCA, which paves the way for further analytic study. Due to the fact that GCA is not semi-simple, the harmonic analysis is quite different from the usual conformal case and is more subtle. Due to the semidirect product structure of GCA, the technical treatment followed closely the one in CFT_1 , but the Galilean conformal partial wave is very different. Especially, in order to define a *bona fide* Hilbert space, we had to use quartic Casimir and introduce proper measure and inner product. We found that for GCA, there are principal series representation, as well as discrete series representation, similar to CFT_1 . With the GCPWs, we established an inversion formula which allow us to read data of GCFT. We pointed out that a rank-*n* multiplet appear as a multipole of order *n* in the inversion function. By the way, we showed that the GCPWs could not be reached by taking non-relativistic limit on CPWs of 2d conformal group, as the normalizable condition and boundary conditions should be analyzed in a way independent of the non-relativistic limit.

In order to test our formalism, we studied the generalized Galilean free theory in several different ways. Firstly we constructed explicitly the level-1 double trace operators, which form a rank-2 multiplet. Secondly we studied the crossing equations by doing double series expansion and read the data of GGFT. Thirdly we tried to do inversion integral and found the same set of data successfully from the inversion function. Finally, we found that GGFTs can

 $^{^{24}}$ Similar phenomenon happens in holographic warped CFT, where the Kac level is negative leading to mild non-unitarity [74]. It was shown that the modular bootstrap is still viable in this case.

be obtained by taking the non-relativistic limit of 2d GFTs. Our study of GGFT provided a nontrivial example of using analytic conformal bootstrap to a non-unitary theory.

In this work, we focused on the GCFT whose spectrum is made of the operators with nonvanishing ξ charge. The $\xi = 0$ case is quite different and subtle, but could be essential to have a complete bootstrap analysis. It is indispensable to have a thorough study of this case [52, 53].

The study in the present work can be extended to several directions. Considering the fact that the similar multiplets appear in LCFT, it would be interesting to discuss the conformal bootstrap for such CFT, see [25] for relevant study. Moreover, the viability of applying conformal bootstrap to the theories with conformal-like symmetry and mild non-unitarity suggests that other theories sharing similar features, like warped CFT [75, 76, 77] and anisotropic Galilean CFTs [78], should be investigated in more details.

Our study focused on the 2d case. It would be interesting to study higher dimensional Galilean CFT. In this case, one has to take the angular momentum quantum number into account[79]. Another interesting direction is to investigate Galilean conformal bootstrap numerically. This is a field which has not been explored. There are some efforts to do numerical investigations on the theories without unitarity, see the review [7] for details. It is also interesting to further study the Galilean conformal bootstrap analytically. For example, it is possible to develop the analytic functional method [19, 20, 21, 22, 23] for the Galilean conformal bootstrap. One can also try to develop our GCA inversion formula further just like in the case of CFT ($d \ge 2$) [17, 18] and CFT₁ [80].

One essential obstacle in the Galilean conformal bootstrap beyond GGFT is the nonindependence of the blocks of multiplets. For example, a rank-1 block can be rewritten as an infinite summation over the blocks of arbitrary rank up to infinity,

$$\chi_{\Delta_0,\xi_0+c,1}(\rho,\kappa) = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{c^r}{r!} \chi_{\Delta_0,\xi_0,r+1}(\rho,\kappa).$$
(7.1)

For the GGFT, this is not a problem as the spectrum of ξ is fixed. However, if we consider a generic Galilean CFT rather than generalized free theories, the block expansion of a four-point function is not unique. One can easily see this from the above observation that the blocks of multiplets are not independent. Another way to understand this is as follows. Recall that our GCA blocks have the following form:

$$\frac{1-\rho^2}{4}\chi_{\Delta,\xi,k}(\rho,\kappa) = \rho^{\Delta}(-\kappa)^k e^{-\xi\kappa}$$
(7.2)

We can multiply a 4-point function $\mathcal{G}(\rho,\kappa)$ with a factor $\frac{1-\rho^2}{4}$, then Taylor expand it in κ . We try to match the 4-point function and its block expansion order by order in κ . At order κ^m , only blocks $\rho^{\Delta}(-\kappa)^k e^{-\xi\kappa}$ with $k \leq m$ contribute. So at every order κ^m , new blocks $\rho^{\Delta}(-\kappa)^m e^{-\xi\kappa}$ are introduced. However, it is easy to see that there are no constraints on the spectrum of ξ of these new introduced blocks. So at every order of κ , these ξ s will be free parameters. As a result, the block expansion is not unique. In the GGFT case, we have the condition $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}$ so we get a unique block expansion.

This phenomenon does not occur in the CFT case, since it relies on the existence of infinite rank multiplets. Even in LCFTs, e.g. Logarithmic generalized free theories [25], there are only finite rank multiplets in the quasiprimary OO OPE. Hence to make further progress on Galilean conformal bootstrap analytically and numerically, we need more physical inputs for GCFTs. One possible choice is to consider the local Galilean conformal symmetry, giving more tight constraints on the block expansions. Another way is to assume that the spectrum contains only finite rank multiplets as in the GGFT case that we expand the four-point functions at $\xi = 2\xi_O$, then figure out the implications in the crossing equations.

The third option is from the observation that the sign of block coefficients(4.31) $P_{n,k}^t$ is positive if $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \geq 1/4$ and $\xi_{\mathcal{O}} \geq 0$, although there are states of negative norms from the descendants and multiplets. If we re-expand at $\xi = 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}} - c$, $c \in [0, 2\xi_{\mathcal{O}})$, the coefficients remain positive. This suggests that in the bootstrap problem we may start from the positivecoefficient assumption, and different crossing solutions may correspond to the same GCFT, like a gauge structure with respect to ξ on the space of GCFT.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Luis Apolo, Jiaxin Qiao, Wei Song, Ning Su, Gang Yang, Yufan Zheng for valuable discussions. The work is in part supported by NSFC Grant No. 11335012, No. 11325522 and No. 11735001.

A Review of LCFTs

In this section, we give a quick review on the multiplets in the logarithmic conformal field theories(LCFTs). We will review the basic structures and results in the LCFTs, and also review the key points and tricks to access them. We will only give some short and simple examples. For more discussions, please see the references [81, 82, 83, 84, 43]. We can see that the multiplets in the GCFTs can be discussed in a parallel way.

Consider the primary states in the conformal field theories (due to the state-operator

correspondence, we use the following notation),

$$L_n \mathcal{O} = 0, \quad n > 0, \quad L_0 \mathcal{O} = \Delta \mathcal{O}$$
 (A.1)

where Δ is a matrix. In the LCFTS, Δ becomes triangular, which can be written into the Jordan blocks. A rank-2 multiplet has the following properties,

$$L_0 \mathcal{O}_0 = \Delta \mathcal{O}_0 + \mathcal{O}_1, \quad L_0 \mathcal{O}_1 = \Delta \mathcal{O}_1. \tag{A.2}$$

In the following discussion, we use the same notation Δ for the matrix, as well as for its diagonal elements. In the LCFTs, the correlation functions of multiplets have logarithmic behaviour. What's more, there are negative norm states in such theories, where the Hilbert space is not positive definite. Please see [84, 43] for more detailed discussions on the norm.

Generally, we denote the primary operators in a rank-r multiplet as $\mathcal{O}_i, i = 0, \cdots, r-1$. From the BCH formula, one gets in general

$$[L_n, \mathcal{O}(x)] = (x^{n+1}\partial_x + (n+1)x^n\Delta)\mathcal{O}(x).$$
(A.3)

Now note that Δ is a matrix. For example, for a rank-2 multiplet,

$$[L_n, \mathcal{O}_0(x)] = (x^{n+1}\partial_x + (n+1)x^n\Delta)\mathcal{O}_0(x) + (n+1)x^n\mathcal{O}_1,$$
(A.4)

$$[L_n, \mathcal{O}_1(x)] = (x^{n+1}\partial_x + (n+1)x^n\Delta)\mathcal{O}_1(x).$$
(A.5)

This in turn gives the infinitesimal transformation of the multiplets,

$$x \to x + \epsilon(x), \quad \delta_{\epsilon} \mathcal{O}_i(x) = \Delta_{ij} \partial_x \epsilon \mathcal{O}_i + \epsilon \partial_x \mathcal{O}_i$$
 (A.6)

and the OPE between the stress tensor and the multiplets,

$$T(x)\mathcal{O}_i(0) \sim \frac{\Delta_{ij}}{x^2}\mathcal{O}_i(0) + \frac{1}{x}\partial_{x'}\mathcal{O}_i(x')|_{x'\to 0}.$$
(A.7)

Compared to the usual conformal field theories without multiplets,

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \mathcal{O}(x) = \Delta \partial_x \epsilon \mathcal{O} + \epsilon \partial_x \mathcal{O}, \tag{A.8}$$

$$T(x)\mathcal{O}(0) \sim \frac{\Delta}{x^2}\mathcal{O}(0) + \frac{1}{x}\partial_{x'}\mathcal{O}(x')|_{x'\to 0},\tag{A.9}$$

there is a simple replacement rule in the expressions above, which is linear in Δ ,

$$\mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O}_i, \quad \Delta \to \Delta_{ij}$$
 (A.10)

From the infinitesimal transformation, one can get the finite transformation behaviour of the multiplets: under $x \to F(x)$,

$$\mathcal{O}_i(x) \to \sum_{k=0}^{r-i-1} \frac{1}{k!} \partial^k_{\Delta} (F'(x))^{\Delta} \mathcal{O}_{i+k}.$$
(A.11)

Note that here is another replacement rule,

$$f(\Delta, \mathcal{O}) \to \sum_{k=0}^{r-i-1} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\Delta}^{k} f(\Delta, \mathcal{O}_{i+k})$$
 (A.12)

where f is a general function containing the operators in discussion. Note that (A.10) (where f is linear of Δ) is a special case of (A.12).

One can understand this replacement in the following heuristic way. Define

$$\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x,\alpha) = \sum_{k=0}^{r-1} \alpha^{r-1-k} \mathcal{O}_k(x), \quad \alpha^r = 0,$$
(A.13)

on which there is

$$L_0 \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x, \alpha) = (\Delta + \partial_\alpha) \tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x, \alpha).$$
(A.14)

One can then expand the expression with respect to α to get the \mathcal{O}_i terms. In general, the action of $f(L_0)$ on \mathcal{O} in usual CFTs without multiplet reads

$$f(L_0)\mathcal{O} = f(\Delta, \mathcal{O}). \tag{A.15}$$

Expanding in both L_0 and α , one can get the replacement rule (A.12),

$$f(L_0)\mathcal{O}_i = \sum_{k=0}^{r-1-i} \frac{1}{k!} \partial^k_{\Delta} f(\Delta) \mathcal{O}_{i+k}.$$
 (A.16)

For more than one operators with weight Δ_i involved, the replacement rule becomes

$$f(\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \cdots, \mathcal{O}_1, \mathcal{O}_2, \cdots) \to \sum_{k_1=0}^{r_1-i_1-1} \sum_{k_2=0}^{r_2-i_2-1} \cdots \frac{1}{k_1!} \partial_{\Delta_1}^{k_1} \frac{1}{k_2!} \partial_{\Delta_2}^{k_2} \cdots f(\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \cdots, \mathcal{O}_{1,i_1}, \mathcal{O}_{2,i_2}, \cdots)$$
(A.17)

We now review the two-point functions of a rank-r multiplet. We denote

$$G_{i,j}(x_1, x_2) = \langle \mathcal{O}_i(x_1) \mathcal{O}_j(x_2) \rangle, \quad i, j = 0, \dots r - 1.$$
 (A.18)

We can also define the matrix

$$G_{i,j}(x_1, x_2) = 0, \quad i \text{ or } j \ge r,$$
 (A.19)

to write the following differential equations in a unified way. The vacuum is invariant under $L_0, L_{\pm 1}$, thus by the Ward identities we have

$$DG_{i,j} = 0 \tag{A.20}$$

where D are the differential operators being comprised of $L_0, L_{\pm 1}$. For L_{-1} , there is

$$(\partial_{x_1} + \partial_{x_2})G_{i,j} = 0, \tag{A.21}$$

which means $G_{i,j}$ is translationally invariant,

$$G_{i,j}(x_1, x_2) = G_{i,j}(x)$$
 (A.22)

with

$$x = x_1 - x_2.$$
 (A.23)

Considering L_0 , we get

$$x\partial_x G_{i,j}(x) = -(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2)G_{i,j}(x) - G_{i+1,j}(x) - G_{i,j+1}(x).$$
(A.24)

Considering L_1 , we find

$$x\partial_x G_{i,j}(x) + (\Delta_1 - \Delta_2) = -(\Delta_1 + \Delta_2)G_{i,j}(x) - 2G_{i+1,j}(x).$$
(A.25)

Now, from the action of L_0 and L_1 , we read

$$\Delta_1 = \Delta_2, \quad G_{i,j} = G_{j,i}. \tag{A.26}$$

If there is no $G_{i+1,j}$ term in the differential equations, the solution is the usual one

$$G(x) = \frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}} \tag{A.27}$$

Therefore, we can make the ansatz

$$G_{i,j}(x) = \frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}} \tilde{G}_{i,j}(x).$$
(A.28)

From the properties of the two-point functions and the differential equations, we know that

$$G_{i,j} = G_{j,i} \tag{A.29}$$

and only the summation of i and j matters in the differential equation. Therefore we may introduce

$$\Gamma_k = G_{i,j}, \quad \tilde{\Gamma}_k = \tilde{G}_{i,j}, \quad \text{with } k = i+j.$$
 (A.30)

From the differential relations above, we have

$$x\partial_x \tilde{\Gamma}_k(x) = -2\tilde{\Gamma}_{k+1} \tag{A.31}$$

and

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_k = 0, \quad \text{for } k \ge r.$$
(A.32)

Finally we get the solutions

$$\Gamma_i = \sum_{k=0}^{r-i-1} \frac{1}{k!} N_k \partial^k_\Delta(\frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}})$$
(A.33)

which can also seen as the replacement rule (A.17), with the condition

$$\Gamma_r = 0, \quad \Gamma_{r-1} = \frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}}.$$
(A.34)

Note that there are r undetermined constants N_0, \dots, N_{r-1} in (A.33). But there are further degrees of freedom to change the basis. For example, in the rank-2 case, one has

$$\mathcal{O}_0 \to a\mathcal{O}_0 + b\mathcal{O}_1,$$
 (A.35)

$$\mathcal{O}_1 \to a\mathcal{O}_1$$
 (A.36)

to keep the multiplet relation invariant,

$$L_0 \mathcal{O}_0 = \Delta \mathcal{O}_0 + \mathcal{O}_1, \quad L_0 \mathcal{O}_1 = \Delta \mathcal{O}_1. \tag{A.37}$$

For the rank-r case, there are totally r degrees of freedom so that one can make the two-point function into the canonical form

$$\Gamma_{r-k-1} = \frac{1}{k!} \partial^k_{\Delta}(\frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}}), \quad k \ge 0.$$
(A.38)

For the rank-2 case, we write them explicitly as follows,

$$G_{11} = 0, \quad G_{01} = G_{10} = \frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}}, \quad G_{00} = \frac{-2\log x}{x^{2\Delta}}.$$
 (A.39)

One can get the three-point function in the similar way (please see [81, 82, 43] for details),

$$G_{ijk} = \langle \mathcal{O}_{1,i}(x_1)\mathcal{O}_{2,j}(x_2)\mathcal{O}_{3,k}(x_3) \rangle.$$
(A.40)

But now, one cannot rotate the basis anymore, so there are undetermined constants,

$$G_{r_1-1,r_2-1,r_3-1} = c_{r_1-1,r_2-1,r_3-1} x_{12}^{-\Delta_{123}} x_{23}^{-\Delta_{231}} x_{31}^{-\Delta_{312}},$$
(A.41)

where

$$x_{ab} = x_a - x_b, \tag{A.42}$$

$$\Delta_{abc} = \Delta_a + \Delta_b - \Delta_c, \tag{A.43}$$

$$G_{r_1-1,r_2-1,r_3-2} = \partial_{\Delta_3} G_{r_1-1,r_2-1,r_3-2} + c_{001} x_{12}^{-\Delta_{123}} x_{23}^{-\Delta_{231}} x_{31}^{-\Delta_{312}}.$$
 (A.44)

Generically,

$$G_{r_1-1-i,r_2-1-j,r_3-1-k} = \sum_{q=0}^{i} \sum_{w=0}^{j} \sum_{e=0}^{k} c_{qwe} \frac{1}{q!} \frac{1}{w!} \frac{1}{e!} \partial_{\Delta_1}^q \partial_{\Delta_2}^w \partial_{\Delta_3}^e G_{000}.$$
 (A.45)

From the finite transformation rule, one can define the conjugate states,

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i | = \lim_{x \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{r-i-1} \langle 0 | \mathcal{O}_{i+k}(x) \partial_{\Delta}^k x^{2\Delta} \frac{1}{k!}.$$
 (A.46)

And the inner products of the primary states in a rank-r multiplet are

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_i | \mathcal{O}_j \rangle = \delta_{i+j,r-1}.$$
 (A.47)

This is helpful to the discussion of the global blocks.

The differential equations could be read from another point of view. For example, in the rank-2 case, one has

$$L_0 \mathcal{O}_0 = \Delta \mathcal{O}_0 + \mathcal{O}_1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad (L_0 - \Delta) \mathcal{O}_0 = \mathcal{O}_1, \tag{A.48}$$

$$L_0 \mathcal{O}_1 = \Delta \mathcal{O}_1 \implies (L_0 - \Delta)^2 \mathcal{O}_0 = 0.$$
 (A.49)

Such structure holds in generic case. For a rank-r multiplet, there is

$$(L_0 - \Delta)^{r-i} \mathcal{O}_i = 0, \quad i = 0, \dots r - 1,$$
 (A.50)

where \mathcal{O}_i is the *i*-th operator in the multiplet. This may lead to the logarithmic behavior in the correlation function. Consider the function in usual CFT obeying the differential equation

$$Df = d(\Delta)f,\tag{A.51}$$

where D is a differential operator and f is a function of the operator, then in a LCFT, the corresponding differential equation becomes

$$(D - d(\Delta))^{r-i} f_i = 0 \tag{A.52}$$

where $f_i = f(\mathcal{O}_i)$ is the function of the *i*-th operator \mathcal{O}_i in a multiplet. One can see this from the replacement rule. Actually, from (A.12), there is

$$Df_{i} = \sum_{k=0}^{r-1-k} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\Delta}^{k} d(\Delta) f_{i+k} = \sum_{k=1}^{r-1-k} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\Delta}^{k} d(\Delta) f_{i+k} + d(\Delta) f_{i},$$
(A.53)

which gives

$$(D - d(\Delta))f_i = \sum_{k=1}^{r-1-k} \frac{1}{k!} \partial^k_\Delta d(\Delta) f_{i+k}$$
(A.54)

with the condition

$$f_r = 0. \tag{A.55}$$

One gets (A.52). In order to find the general solutions of (A.52), one may consider the following differential equation

$$(D - d(\Delta))^r g = 0, \tag{A.56}$$

Using the trick (A.13), one can see that the linearly independent solutions of (A.56) reads

$$\frac{1}{k!}\partial_{\Delta}^{k}f_{r-1}, \quad k = 0, 1 \cdots r - 1,$$
(A.57)

where f_{r-1} is the eigenfunction obeying

$$(D - d(\Delta))f_{r-1} = 0.$$
 (A.58)

To see why the solutions read (A.57), one can consider acting ∂_{Δ} on

$$(D - d(\Delta))f_{r-1} = 0.$$
 (A.59)

So we have

$$\partial_{\Delta}[(D-d(\Delta))f_{r-1}] = 0, \qquad (A.60)$$

and

$$D\partial_{\Delta}[f_{r-1}] - d(\Delta)\partial_{\Delta}f_{r-1} = \partial_{\Delta}d(\Delta)f_{r-1}.$$
(A.61)

This is actually,

$$Df_{r-2} - d(\Delta)f_{r-2} = \partial_{\Delta}d(\Delta)f_{r-1}.$$
(A.62)

So we have checked that $\partial_{\Delta} f_{r-1}$ is a solution of f_{r-2} . Actually, it is straightforward to check that $\partial_{\Delta} f_i$ is a solution of f_{i-1} . Then starting from f_{r-1} , we can read f_i by acting $\partial_{\Delta} (r-i-1)$ times on it. In this way, we may read the generic solution to (A.56):

$$g = \sum_{k=0}^{r-1} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\Delta}^{k} f_{r-1} N_{k}$$
 (A.63)

with r constants N_0, \dots, N_{r-1} . The above discussion may be extended to the case that the function f is not only a function of \mathcal{O}_i , but also involves multiple operators. When it applies to the multi-point function, the logarithmic behavior appears.

The differential equation (A.52) shows the basic structures in the LCFTs where multiplets appear. Such structure appears in the three-point functions and the global blocks as well. Consider the blocks expansion of the four-point functions with rank-1 quasi-primary operators. The propagating operator may be some multiplets. The Casmir equation reads (now we have the L_0 action on the multiplets, and we can consider the action of the Casmir operator on the propagating operators),

$$(C - c(\Delta))^r G_\Delta = 0 \tag{A.64}$$

where $c(\Delta)$ is the eigenvalue in the usual CFTs without multiplet, and G_{Δ} is the stripped block. The solutions read,

$$\frac{1}{k!}\partial_{\Delta}^{k}G_{\Delta}P_{k} \tag{A.65}$$

where P_k is the undetermined coefficient, related to the three-point coefficients. The relation can be derived in the OPE limit. Here we provide a heuristic way to see the key structures in the LCFTs, where the multiplets appear. For more details of the blocks, please see [43]. For more discussion on the trick, please see [83] and related papers.

B Details on the multiplets in GCFTs

In GCFTs, we consider the M_0 multiplets, where M_0 is not diagonal. For example, the rank-2 case reads,

$$M_0 \mathcal{O} = \xi \mathcal{O} \tag{B.1}$$

where ξ is a matrix.

$$M_0 \mathcal{O}_0 = \xi \mathcal{O}_0 + \mathcal{O}_1, \quad M_0 \mathcal{O}_1 = \xi \mathcal{O}_1.$$
 (B.2)

These multiplets have similar structures as the ones in LCFTs. The trick (A.13) shows the reason why this is the case. But now, comparing to the LCFTs one should replace

$$\partial_{\Delta} \to \partial_{\xi}$$
 (B.3)

in the discussion. All the discussions are parallel to the ones in the section above.

From BCH formula, we find

$$[L_n, \mathcal{O}(x, y)] = [(x^{n+1}\partial_x + (n+1)x^n y \partial_y)I + (n+1)(x^n \tilde{\Delta} - nx^{n-1}\tilde{\xi})]\mathcal{O}(x, y), \quad n \ge -1 \quad (B.4)$$

$$[M_n, \mathcal{O}(x, y)] = [-(x^{n+1}\partial_y)I + (n+1)x^n\tilde{\xi}]\mathcal{O}(x, y), \quad n \ge -1$$
(B.5)

where we denote the identical matrix as I explicitly. Now we consider the two-point functions first. For a multiplet of rank r, we denote

$$G_{i,j}(x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2) = \langle \mathcal{O}_i(x_1, y_1) \mathcal{O}_j(x_2, y_2) \rangle, \quad i, j = 0, 1, \dots, r-1.$$
(B.6)

Since the vacuum is invariant undert $\{L_0, L_{\pm 1}, M_0, M_{\pm 1}\}$, we can get the differential equations which the two-point functions obey. From L_{-1} and M_{-1} , we have

$$L_{-1}: (\partial_{x_1} + \partial_{x_2})G_{i,j} = 0, \tag{B.7}$$

$$M_{-1}: -(\partial_{y_1} + \partial_{y_2})G_{i,j} = 0, (B.8)$$

which means $G_{i,j} = G_{i,j}(x, y)$ with $x = x_1 - x_2, y = y_1 - y_2$. Moreover, we have

$$L_0: (x\partial_x + y\partial_y + \tilde{h} \times I + I \times \tilde{h})G_{i,j} = 0,$$
(B.9)

$$L_{1}: [(x_{1}^{2}\partial_{x_{1}} + 2x_{1}y_{1}\partial_{y_{1}} + 2(x_{1}\tilde{h} \times I - y_{1}\tilde{\xi} \times I) + (x_{2}^{2}\partial_{x_{2}} + 2x_{2}y_{2}\partial_{y_{2}} + 2(x_{2}I \times \tilde{h} - I \times y_{2}\tilde{\xi})]G_{i,j} = 0,$$
(B.10)

$$M_0: (-x\partial_y + \tilde{\xi} \times I + I \times \tilde{\xi})G_{i,j} = 0,$$
(B.11)

$$M_1: (-x_1^2 \partial_{y_1} - x_2^2 \partial_{y_2} + 2x_1 \tilde{\xi} \times I + 2x_2 I \times \tilde{\xi}) G_{i,j} = 0.$$
(B.12)

Similar to the way in the LCFTs, from M_0 and M_1 , one gets

$$x\partial_y G_{i,j}(x,y) = 2\xi G_{i,j}(x,y) + G_{i+1,j} + G_{i,j+1},$$
(B.13)

$$G_{i,j} = G_{j,i}.\tag{B.14}$$

Introducing

$$\Gamma_k = G_{i,j}, \quad k = i+j, \tag{B.15}$$

we have

$$x\partial_y\Gamma_k(x,y) = 2\xi\Gamma_k(x,y) + 2\Gamma_{k+1}$$
(B.16)

The y-dependent part reads,

$$\Gamma_k(x,y) = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1-k} \frac{1}{i!} N_i f(x) \partial_{\xi}^i e^{2\xi \frac{y}{x}}.$$
(B.17)

Using L_0 and L_1 , we get

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}}.\tag{B.18}$$

Turning into the canonical form, we have

$$\Gamma_k(x,y) = \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\xi}^{r-1-k} (\frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}} e^{2\xi \frac{y}{x}}).$$
(B.19)

Let us give an explicit example: the two-point functions of a rank-2 multiplet in the GCFTs. We consider the following rank-2 multiplet $\mathcal{O} = (\mathcal{O}_0, \mathcal{O}_1)^T$,

$$L_n \mathcal{O} = 0, \quad M_n \mathcal{O} = 0, \quad n \ge 1 \tag{B.20}$$

$$L_0 \mathcal{O} = \tilde{\Delta} \mathcal{O}, \quad M_0 \mathcal{O} = \tilde{\xi} \mathcal{O},$$
 (B.21)

where

$$\tilde{\Delta} = \begin{pmatrix} \Delta & 0 \\ 0 & \Delta \end{pmatrix}_{2 \times 2}, \quad \tilde{\xi} = \begin{pmatrix} \xi & 1 \\ 0 & \xi \end{pmatrix}_{2 \times 2}.$$
(B.22)

The two-point functions now read

$$G_{1,1} = 0, \quad G_{0,1} = G_{1,0} = \frac{1}{x^{2\Delta}} e^{2\xi \frac{y}{x}}, \quad G_{0,0} = \partial_{\xi} G_{01}.$$
 (B.23)

This result matches with the replacement rule (B.3).

Note that we use a different notation in the paper, compared to the LCFTs case,

$$\mathcal{O}_0 \leftrightarrow \mathcal{O}_1$$
 (B.24)

Generally,

$$\mathcal{O}_i \leftrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{r-1-i} \tag{B.25}$$

From the discussion of the above sections, one can confirm the more general results in the paper in a straightforward way.

C Number of the operators in GGFT

We want to find the local operators which appear in the $\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2$ OPE. In other words, they have non-vanishing three-point functions with $\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2$. Since we are discussing the GGFTs now, they are the composite operators comprising of $\mathcal{O}_1, \mathcal{O}_2$. Moreover, to have non-vanishing three-point functions, only one \mathcal{O}_1 and one \mathcal{O}_2 can appear in the composite operator due to the normal ordering and the Wick theorem, since only the terms from the contraction of $\mathcal{O}_1(\text{or } \mathcal{O}_2)$ in the composite operator with the operators outside the composite operator are left. L_{-1} and M_{-1} can appear in the local composite operator, since they correspond to ∂_x and ∂_y respectively. In short, we want to construct the operators like $\mathcal{O} = L^a_{-1}M^b_{-1}\mathcal{O}_1L^c_{-1}M^d_{-1}\mathcal{O}_2$ and find their linear combinations which are quasi-primary operators.

More concretely, we would like to find the quasi-primary operators at level N. By level N, we mean that there are totally $N \ L_{-1}$ and M_{-1} in the composite operator, since both L_{-1} and M_{-1} are of weight 1. The problem is how many independent quasi-primary \mathcal{O} s at level N. Firstly, there are two different operators $(L_{-1} \text{ or } M_{-1})$ inserted at two distinguished position (before \mathcal{O}_1 or \mathcal{O}_2) so that the partition function is

$$Z(q) = \frac{1}{(1-q)^4}$$
(C.1)

where $4 = 2 \times 2$. After doing expansion with respect to q, we can get the number of independent operators at level N by reading the coefficient of q^N . Secondly, starting with a quasi-primary operator, we can find its global descendent operators by acting $L_{-1}^a M_{-1}^b$ on it. At level k = a+b, the number of independent global descendent operators related to a specified quasi-primary operator is f(k, 2), where f(k, 2) is the number of different ways of the binary partition of the integer k. The number of independent quasi-primary operators at level N is the total number of independent operators minus the number of global descendent ones at level N.

At level 0, the composite operator $\mathcal{O}^{(1)} = \mathcal{O}_1 \mathcal{O}_2$ is a quasi-primary operator, since \mathcal{O}_1 and \mathcal{O}_2 are quasi-primary operators. Consequently at level 1, there are f(1,2) = 2 global descendent operators related to $\mathcal{O}^{(1)}$. As totally there are 4 independent operators at level 1, there remains two quasi-primary operators at level 1. At level 2, there are f(2,2) = 3 global descendent operators related to $\mathcal{O}^{(1)}$. And there are $2 \times f(1,2) = 4$ global descendent operators related to quasi-primary operators at level 1. Totally there are 10 independent operators at level 2, so there remains 3(=10-4-3) quasi-primary operators at level 2. In this way, we get the numbers of quasi-primary operators at each level.

Considering the general action of M_0 on the composite operator $\mathcal{O} = L^a_{-1}M^b_{-1}\mathcal{O}_1L^c_{-1}M^d_{-1}\mathcal{O}_2$, it will give one term proportional to \mathcal{O} (the coefficient is $\xi_{\mathcal{O}} = \xi_1 + \xi_2$) and additional terms with one of the L_{-1} 's being replaced by M_{-1} due to the commutation relation

$$[L_{-1}, M_0] = -M_{-1}. (C.2)$$

By acting $(M_0 - \xi_{\mathcal{O}})$ k times on \mathcal{O} , we get zero, where k is the number of L_{-1} 's in \mathcal{O} . In other words, the composite operator \mathcal{O} belongs to a rank-k multiplet if there are $k \ L_{-1}$ in its construction. For a level-N operator, there are at most $N \ L_{-1}$ s in \mathcal{O} . Therefore a level-N quasi-primary operator is at most of rank N. On the other hand, we can show that it is at least rank-N, which means $L^a_{-1}\mathcal{O}_1L^b_{-1}\mathcal{O}_2$ with a + b = N must appear in the linear combination in at least one of the quasi-primary operators. Supposing not, we can count the number of the quasi-primary operators with(/without) these terms as Q(N)(/A(N)).

$$A(N) = Q(N) - f(N,2) + 1 \times N = Q(N) - 1$$
(C.3)

where f(N, 2) comes from the terms of the form $L_{-1}^a \mathcal{O}_1 L_{-1}^b \mathcal{O}_2$, and 1 comes from that there are one less global descendant operators related to each quasi-primary operators at level $0, 1, 2, \dots, N - 1$. Thus, there must be one quasi-primary operator at level N containing terms $L_{-1}^a \mathcal{O}_1 L_{-1}^b \mathcal{O}_2$. To conclude, at level N, there is at least one rank-N multiplet of the quasi-primary operators. From the counting of the number of the quasi-primary operators, we know that at level-N, there is one rank-N multiplet.

D Proof of the cancelation in section 4.6

In this section, we will show the cancellation of the superficially divergent terms in taking the non-relativistic limit of the global block expansion of a 2d GFT. The cancellation is due to some combinatorial identities.

We consider the general case $\Delta = 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n \equiv \Delta_n$, which is just the contribution of the rank-(n+1) multiplet as we will show very soon. At rank n+1, we have:

$$a_{n}\bar{a}_{0}(G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + n\epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \frac{n^{2}\epsilon^{2}}{2!}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + ...)$$

$$+a_{n-1}\bar{a}_{1}(G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + (n-2)\epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \frac{(n-2)^{2}\epsilon^{2}}{2!}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + ...)$$

$$+a_{n-2}\bar{a}_{2}(G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + (n-2)\epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \frac{(n-2)^{2}\epsilon^{2}}{2!}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + ...)$$

$$+...$$

$$+a_{0}\bar{a}_{n}(G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + (-n)\epsilon\partial_{\xi}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + \frac{(-n)^{2}\epsilon^{2}}{2!}\partial_{\xi}^{2}G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}} + ...)$$

$$(D.1)$$

where the ellipses denote the higher order terms in the Taylor expansions. The point is that all the $a\bar{a}$ terms have at most $(\frac{1}{\epsilon})^n$ singular behaviour, so the Taylor expansions are truncated to the first n+1 terms as $\epsilon \to 0$, corresponding to a multiplet of rank n+1. Now we calculate the above summation, it can be written as:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A_{n,k} \partial_{\xi}^{k} G_{\Delta_{n},2\xi_{\mathcal{O}}},\tag{D.2}$$

with

$$A_{n,k} = \sum_{q=0}^{n} a_q \bar{a}_{n-q} \frac{(2q-n)^k}{k!} \epsilon^k.$$
 (D.3)

Using the relations

$$a_n = \frac{(2h_{\mathcal{O}})_n^2}{n!(4h_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 1)_n}, \qquad \bar{a}_n = \frac{(2\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}})_n^2}{n!(4\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 1)_n},$$

and

$$h_{\mathcal{O}} = \Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}{\epsilon}, \qquad \bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} = \Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - \frac{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}{\epsilon}$$

we have:

$$A_{n,k} = \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{q=0}^{n} \frac{\Gamma^2(2h_{\mathcal{O}} + q)\Gamma(4h_{\mathcal{O}} + q - 1)}{q!\Gamma^2(2h_{\mathcal{O}})\Gamma(4h_{\mathcal{O}} + 2q - 1)} \frac{\Gamma^2(2\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} + n - q)\Gamma(4\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} + n - q - 1)}{(n - q)!\Gamma^2(2\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}})\Gamma(4\bar{h}_{\mathcal{O}} + 2n - 2q - 1)} (2q - n)^k \epsilon^k \\ = \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{q=0}^{n} \frac{1}{q!(n - q)!} (2q - n)^k \frac{1}{\epsilon^n} \epsilon^k \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{q-1} [\xi_{\mathcal{O}} + \epsilon(\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + i/2)]^2}{\prod_{j=q-1}^{2q-2} [\xi_{\mathcal{O}} + \epsilon(\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + j/4)]} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{n-q-1} [-\xi_{\mathcal{O}} + \epsilon(\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + i/2)]^2}{\prod_{j=n-q-1}^{2n-2q-2} [-\xi_{\mathcal{O}} + \epsilon(\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + j/4)]}$$
(D.4)

from which we easily get that when k > n, $A_{n,k} \to 0$ as $\epsilon \to 0$. This truncation avoids the appearance of infinite-rank multiplet and in fact lead to a rank-(n + 1) multiplet. For k = n, $A_{n,k}$ is finite; for k < n, the above expression has superficial divergent terms of order ϵ^{k-n} , ϵ^{k-n+1} , ... ϵ^{-1} . Interestingly, all these divergent terms actually vanish. To see this fact, let us rewrite $A_{n,k}$ as:

$$A_{n,k} = \frac{\epsilon^{k-n}}{k!} \sum_{q=0}^{n} \frac{1}{q!(n-q)!} (2q-n)^k \xi_{\mathcal{O}}^n (-1)^{n-q} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{q-1} (1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + i/2}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})^2}{\prod_{j=q-1}^{2q-2} (1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + j/4}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{n-q-1} (1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + i/2}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})^2}{\prod_{j=n-q-1}^{2n-2q-2} (1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + j/4}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})}.$$
(D.5)

To calculate the order ϵ^{k-n+l} terms directly is not easy because the above expression is quite complicated. However, since we expect all the terms of order ϵ^{k-n+l} vanish for l < n-k, we can use mathematical induction to prove the cancellation. Let us start from the simplest case, the most singular part involving the terms of order ϵ^{k-n} (l = 0), which is of the form

$$\frac{\epsilon^{k-n}\xi_{\mathcal{O}}^n}{k!} \sum_{q=0}^n \frac{1}{q!(n-q)!} (2q-n)^k (-1)^{n-q}.$$
 (D.6)

For k < n, the above summation vanish. In fact, when k = 0, the involved summation is:

$$\sum_{q=0}^{n} \frac{1}{q!(n-q)!} (-1)^{n-q} = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{q=0}^{n} C_n^q (-1)^{n-q} = \frac{1}{n!} (1-1)^n = 0$$
(D.7)

For general k, we can expand $(2q - n)^k$ in (D.6) and the summation for every individual q^m , $0 \le m \le k < n$ term actually vanishes, namely:

$$\sum_{q=0}^{n} \frac{1}{q!(n-q)!} q^m (-1)^{n-q} = 0, \qquad m < n.$$
 (D.8)

Now we use mathematical induction to prove this result. For m = 0, we have already proven it in (D.7). If (D.8) holds for m < n, then for m + 1, n + 1, we have

$$\sum_{q=0}^{n+1} \frac{1}{q!(n+1-q)!} q^{m+1} (-1)^{n+1-q}$$

$$= \sum_{q=1}^{n+1} \frac{1}{(q-1)!(n+1-q)!} q^m (-1)^{n+1-q}$$

$$= \sum_{q=0}^n \frac{1}{q!(n-q)!} q^m (-1)^{n-q}$$

$$= 0.$$
(D.9)

Note that m < n is necessary, and m + 1 < n + 1 is automatically true when m < n is given.

In the above discussion, using the general result (D.8) we find that the terms of order ϵ^{k-n} (l = 0) always vanish. Following the same logic, we can show that the terms of general order ϵ^{k-n+l} vanish as well. In fact, from (D.5) we need only to show that in the ϵ expansion of the product

$$\frac{\prod_{i=0}^{q-1} (1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + i/2}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})^2}{\prod_{j=q-1}^{2q-2} (1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + j/4}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{n-q-1} (1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + i/2}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})^2}{\prod_{j=n-q-1}^{2n-2q-2} (1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + j/4}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}})},$$
(D.10)

the order- ϵ^l terms, as polynomials in q, are at most of order q^l . Then as $m + l \leq k + l < n$, by (D.8), the summation vanishes. However, the terms of order ϵ^l in the expansion of (D.10) are superficially the polynomials of order q^{2l} . Next we would like to show that those terms of order q^m for m > l always vanish. This can also be proved by using mathematical induction. For l = 0, (D.10) is 1 and is of course of order q^0 . Now, suppose that for m = 0, 1, 2...l, the order- ϵ^m terms are polynomials in q of at most order q^m , then for m = l+1, we denote (D.10) as $a_{n,q}$, and rewrite $a_{n,q+1}$ as:

$$a_{n,q+1} \equiv a_{n,q} b_{n,q},\tag{D.11}$$

where

$$a_{n,q+1} = a_{n,q} \frac{\left(1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{q}{2}}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}{\left(1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{n-q-1}{2}}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)} \frac{\left(1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{q-1}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}{\left(1 + \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{2q-1}{4}}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)} \frac{\left(1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{n-q-3}{4}}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}{\left(1 - \epsilon \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + \frac{n-q-1}{4}}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}.$$
 (D.12)

Denote the order ϵ^m term of $a_{n,q}$ as $a_{n,q}^m$ and the order ϵ^m term of $b_{n,q}$ as $b_{n,q}^m$, then

$$a_{n,q+1}^{l+1} = \sum_{r=0}^{l+1} a_{n,q}^r b_{n,q}^{l+1-r},$$
(D.13)

so that

$$a_{n,q+1}^{l+1} - a_{n,q}^{l+1} = \sum_{r=0}^{l} a_{n,q}^{r} b_{n,q}^{l+1-r}.$$
 (D.14)

If we can prove the RHS in (D.14) is at most of order q^l , then $a_{n,q}^{l+1}$ is at most of order q^{l+1} and we are done. By induction, we know that $a_{n,q}^r$ is at most of order q^r for $0 \le r \le l$, so what remains is to show $b_{n,q}^{l+1-r}$ is a polynomials in q of order q^{l-r} at most. In other words, we need to show that the highest order term, which is of order q^{l+1-r} , vanishes. In fact, for this term, we can effectively calculate the order ϵ^{l+1-r} (r = 0, 1, 2...l) terms for the following expression:

$$\frac{\left(1+\epsilon\frac{q}{2}\right)}{\left(1-\epsilon\frac{-q}{2}\right)}\frac{\left(1+\epsilon\frac{q}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}{\left(1+\epsilon\frac{2q}{4}\right)}\frac{\left(1-\epsilon\frac{-2q}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}{\left(1-\epsilon\frac{-q}{\xi_{\mathcal{O}}}\right)}.$$
(D.15)

It easy to see that this gives exactly 1. So all the order ϵ^{l+1-r} terms vanish. Then from the above analysis, we have finished the proof.

Furthermore, we can also show that the remaining finite pieces of the 2d GFT coincide with the GGFT result from other methods. From (D.9), if we set m = n, then:

$$\sum_{q=0}^{n} \frac{1}{(q)!(n-q)!} q^n (-1)^{n-q} = \frac{1}{0!0!} 0^0 (-1)^{0-0} = 1.$$
(D.16)

What remains to obtain $A_{n,k}$ is to calculate the coefficient of q^{n-k} in $a_{n,q}^{n-k}$. One can try to calculate it directly or again use mathematical induction method, and will find our GGFT result can be reproduced by the limiting method.

E Check the spectral density of GGFTs

In this section, we will show that GGFTs satisfy the requirement of using the tauberian theorem and verify that the integrated spectral density function of GGFTs has the asymptotical behaviour predicted by the tauberian theorem in section 5. This gives a cross check of the calculation in both sides.

Firstly, we need to see whether the condition of the Hardy-Littlewood tauberian theorem (5.12) hold in the GGFT case. Let's focus on the order κ^0 case, for which we have the relaxed condition (5.12) for the spectral density function. It is easy to see that when $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} > 1/4^{25}$, the coefficients (4.31) is positive, so the requirement (5.12) is satisfied. In fact, the condition $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} > 1/4$ is just the one that ensure the order κ^0 part of the four point function divergent when $\beta \to 0$ in (5.9). Note that this divergent case is the standard situation for which tauberian

²⁵Note that in the case of order κ^0 , the coefficients $P_{n,0}^t$ have no ξ dependence, generally, we also need the condition $\xi_{\mathcal{O}} > 0$ to ensure the positivity of $P_{n,k}^t$.

theorems are applied. Nevertheless, as noted in [64], the Hardy-Littlewood tauberian theorem also holds for the convergent case (corresponding to $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \leq 1/4$ here). In general, the coefficients (4.31) can be negative²⁶, nevertheless, the condition (5.12) still hold for GGFTs. In order to show this, we only need to check the case $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \leq 1/4$, calculate the asymptotical behaviour of $P_{n,0}^t$ as $n \to \infty$ (equivalently $\Delta = 2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n \to \infty$) and then compare with the right hand side of (5.12). Note that both of these two quantities goes to 0 and are negative when $\Delta \to \infty$. We write $P_{n,0}^t$ explicitly:

$$P_{n,0}^{t} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} (4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + 2n - 2) \frac{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 2)}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 2)\Gamma(n + 1)}$$
(E.1)

we want to know its behaviour when $n \to \infty$. Using Stirling's approximation:

$$\Gamma(x+1) \sim \sqrt{2\pi x} \left(\frac{x}{e}\right)^x, \qquad x \to \infty$$
 (E.2)

we find

$$P_{n,0}^{t} = 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} (4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + 2n - 2) \frac{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 2)}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1)\Gamma(n + 1)}$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} \frac{2n}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1)} \frac{\sqrt{2\pi(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 3)}(\frac{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 3}{e})^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 3}}{\sqrt{2\pi n}(\frac{n}{e})^{n}}$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} \frac{2n}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1)} e^{3-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} (1 + \frac{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 3}{n})^{n} (4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n - 3)^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-3}$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2} \frac{2n}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1)} e^{3-4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}} e^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-3} n^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-3}$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \frac{n^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1)}$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \frac{\Delta^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} - 1)}$$
(E.3)

The Δ dependence of this behaviour is just the same as the right hand side of (5.12) (so we say GGFTs marginally satisfy the condition in section 5). However, the condition (5.12) only needs to hold for some constant C, and for any $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \leq 1/4$, we can always find such a C which makes (5.12) holds ²⁷. So we find the GGFTs satisfy the requirement of using the tauberian theorem.

Our next goal is to calculate the asymptotical behaviour of integrated spectral density function of GGFTs, it is expected to coincide with (5.11). We want to use a quick way to check this result and do not calculate the integrated spectral density explicitly. From the behaviour (5.11), we know

$$F(n) \sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1} \frac{(2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+n)^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}})}$$
(E.4)

 $^{^{26}}$ In the GFT case, unitarity bounds ensure the positivity of its coefficients, but as we emphasize in the main body of the paper, there is no unitarity for GCFTs.

²⁷In fact, (E.3) is true for any $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}$. So for $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} > 1/4$, we can choose any $C \ge 0$ to make (5.12) holds.

$$P_{n,0}^{t} = F(n) - F(n-1)$$

$$\sim [n - (n-1)]F'(n)$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1}(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1)\frac{(2\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}+n)^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}})}$$

$$\sim 2^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1}\frac{\Delta^{4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-2}}{\Gamma(4\Delta_{\mathcal{O}}-1)}$$
(E.5)

which is precisely (E.3). So we have finished the cross check.

References

- [1] S. Ferrara, A. Grillo and R. Gatto, Tensor representations of conformal algebra and conformally covariant operator product expansion, Annals Phys. **76** (1973) 161.
- [2] A. Polyakov, Nonhamiltonian approach to conformal quantum field theory, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 66 (1974) 23.
- [3] A. Belavin, A.M. Polyakov and A. Zamolodchikov, Infinite Conformal Symmetry in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 241 (1984) 333.
- [4] R. Rattazzi, V.S. Rychkov, E. Tonni and A. Vichi, Bounding scalar operator dimensions in 4D CFT, JHEP 12 (2008) 031 [0807.0004].
- [5] S. El-Showk, M.F. Paulos, D. Poland, S. Rychkov, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Vichi, Solving the 3D Ising Model with the Conformal Bootstrap, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 025022 [1203.6064].
- [6] S. El-Showk, M.F. Paulos, D. Poland, S. Rychkov, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Vichi, Solving the 3d Ising Model with the Conformal Bootstrap II. c-Minimization and Precise Critical Exponents, J. Stat. Phys. 157 (2014) 869 [1403.4545].
- [7] D. Poland, S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, The Conformal Bootstrap: Theory, Numerical Techniques, and Applications, Rev. Mod. Phys. 91 (2019) 015002 [1805.04405].
- [8] Z. Komargodski and A. Zhiboedov, Convexity and Liberation at Large Spin, JHEP 11 (2013) 140 [1212.4103].
- [9] A. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, The Analytic Bootstrap and AdS Superhorizon Locality, JHEP 12 (2013) 004 [1212.3616].

- [10] A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Analytic bootstrap at large spin, JHEP 11 (2015) 083
 [1502.01437].
- [11] A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Universal anomalous dimensions at large spin and large twist, JHEP 07 (2015) 026 [1504.00772].
- [12] L.F. Alday, Large Spin Perturbation Theory for Conformal Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 111601 [1611.01500].
- [13] I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, *Holography from Conformal Field Theory*, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [0907.0151].
- [14] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP
 03 (2011) 025 [1011.1485].
- [15] A. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, J. Penedones, S. Raju and B.C. van Rees, A Natural Language for AdS/CFT Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 095 [1107.1499].
- [16] L.F. Alday and A. Bissi, Unitarity and positivity constraints for CFT at large central charge, JHEP 07 (2017) 044 [1606.09593].
- [17] S. Caron-Huot, Analyticity in Spin in Conformal Theories, JHEP 09 (2017) 078[1703.00278].
- [18] D. Simmons-Duffin, D. Stanford and E. Witten, A spacetime derivation of the Lorentzian OPE inversion formula, JHEP 07 (2018) 085 [1711.03816].
- [19] D. Mazac, Analytic bounds and emergence of AdS₂ physics from the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 04 (2017) 146 [1611.10060].
- [20] D. Mazac and M.F. Paulos, The analytic functional bootstrap. Part I: 1D CFTs and 2D S-matrices, JHEP 02 (2019) 162 [1803.10233].
- [21] D. Mazac and M.F. Paulos, The analytic functional bootstrap. Part II. Natural bases for the crossing equation, JHEP 02 (2019) 163 [1811.10646].
- [22] D. Mazáč, L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, A Basis of Analytic Functionals for CFTs in General Dimension, 1910.12855.
- [23] M.F. Paulos, Analytic functional bootstrap for CFTs in d > 1, JHEP **04** (2020) 093 [1910.08563].

- [24] W.D. Goldberger, Z.U. Khandker and S. Prabhu, OPE convergence in non-relativistic conformal field theories, JHEP 12 (2015) 048 [1412.8507].
- [25] P. Banerjee and P. Dey, Analytic Bootstrap for Logarithmic CFT, JHEP 12 (2019) 114
 [1908.10437].
- [26] J. Negro, M. del Olmo and A. Rodrguez-Marco, Non-relativistic Conformal Groups I, J. Math. Phys. 38 (1997) 3786.
- [27] J. Lukierski, P. Stichel and W. Zakrzewski, Exotic Galilean conformal symmetry and its dynamical realisations, Phys. Lett. A 357 (2006) 1 [hep-th/0511259].
- [28] A. Bagchi and R. Gopakumar, Galilean Conformal Algebras and AdS/CFT, JHEP 07 (2009) 037 [0902.1385].
- [29] C. Duval and P.A. Horvathy, Non-relativistic conformal symmetries and Newton-Cartan structures, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 465206 [0904.0531].
- [30] D. Martelli and Y. Tachikawa, Comments on Galilean conformal field theories and their geometric realization, JHEP 05 (2010) 091 [0903.5184].
- [31] A. Bagchi, Correspondence between Asymptotically Flat Spacetimes and Nonrelativistic Conformal Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 171601 [1006.3354].
- [32] A. Bagchi and R. Fareghbal, BMS/GCA Redux: Towards Flatspace Holography from Non-Relativistic Symmetries, JHEP 10 (2012) 092 [1203.5795].
- [33] G. Barnich, Entropy of three-dimensional asymptotically flat cosmological solutions, JHEP 10 (2012) 095 [1208.4371].
- [34] A. Bagchi, S. Detournay, R. Fareghbal and J. Simón, Holography of 3D Flat Cosmological Horizons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 141302 [1208.4372].
- [35] A. Bagchi, R. Basu, D. Grumiller and M. Riegler, Entanglement entropy in Galilean conformal field theories and flat holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 111602 [1410.4089].
- [36] H. Jiang, W. Song and Q. Wen, Entanglement Entropy in Flat Holography, JHEP 07 (2017) 142 [1706.07552].
- [37] E. Hijano, Semi-classical BMS₃ blocks and flat holography, JHEP **10** (2018) 044 [1805.00949].

- [38] E. Hijano, Flat space physics from AdS/CFT, JHEP 07 (2019) 132 [1905.02729].
- [39] L. Apolo, H. Jiang, W. Song and Y. Zhong, Swing surfaces and holographic entanglement beyond AdS/CFT, 2006.10740.
- [40] L. Apolo, H. Jiang, W. Song and Y. Zhong, Modular Hamiltonians in flat holography and (W)AdS/WCFT, JHEP 09 (2020) 033 [2006.10741].
- [41] R. Gopakumar, A. Kaviraj, K. Sen and A. Sinha, Conformal Bootstrap in Mellin Space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 081601 [1609.00572].
- [42] A. Bagchi, R. Gopakumar, I. Mandal and A. Miwa, GCA in 2d, JHEP 08 (2010) 004 [0912.1090].
- [43] M. Hogervorst, M. Paulos and A. Vichi, The ABC (in any D) of Logarithmic CFT, JHEP 10 (2017) 201 [1605.03959].
- [44] A. Bagchi, M. Gary and Zodinmawia, The nuts and bolts of the BMS Bootstrap, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 174002 [1705.05890].
- [45] J. Maldacena and D. Stanford, *Remarks on the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model*, *Phys. Rev. D* 94 (2016) 106002 [1604.07818].
- [46] J. Murugan, D. Stanford and E. Witten, More on Supersymmetric and 2d Analogs of the SYK Model, JHEP 08 (2017) 146 [1706.05362].
- [47] A. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Unitarity and the Holographic S-Matrix, JHEP 10 (2012) 032 [1112.4845].
- [48] D. Karateev, P. Kravchuk and D. Simmons-Duffin, Harmonic Analysis and Mean Field Theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 217 [1809.05111].
- [49] A. Bagchi, M. Gary and Zodinmawia, Bondi-Metzner-Sachs bootstrap, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 025007 [1612.01730].
- [50] M. Hogervorst and B.C. van Rees, Crossing symmetry in alpha space, JHEP 11 (2017) 193 [1702.08471].
- [51] A. Bagchi and I. Mandal, On Representations and Correlation Functions of Galilean Conformal Algebras, Phys. Lett. B 675 (2009) 393 [0903.4524].
- [52] Work in progress.
- [53] Work in progress.
- [54] V. Gurarie, Logarithmic operators in conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 410 (1993) 535 [hep-th/9303160].
- [55] T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, Logarithmic Conformal Field Theory: Beyond an Introduction, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 4006 [1303.0847].
- [56] M. Henkel and S. Rouhani, Logarithmic correlators or responses in non-relativistic analogues of conformal invariance, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 494004 [1302.7136].
- [57] M. Lemos, P. Liendo, M. Meineri and S. Sarkar, Universality at large transverse spin in defect CFT, JHEP 09 (2018) 091 [1712.08185].
- [58] L. Iliesiu, M. Koloğlu, R. Mahajan, E. Perlmutter and D. Simmons-Duffin, The Conformal Bootstrap at Finite Temperature, JHEP 10 (2018) 070 [1802.10266].
- [59] A. Bagchi, A. Saha and Zodinmawia, BMS Characters and Modular Invariance, JHEP 07 (2019) 138 [1902.07066].
- [60] A. Fotopoulos and T.R. Taylor, Primary Fields in Celestial CFT, JHEP 10 (2019) 167
 [1906.10149].
- [61] D. Pappadopulo, S. Rychkov, J. Espin and R. Rattazzi, OPE Convergence in Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 105043 [1208.6449].
- [62] J. Qiao and S. Rychkov, A tauberian theorem for the conformal bootstrap, JHEP 12 (2017) 119 [1709.00008].
- [63] B. Mukhametzhanov and A. Zhiboedov, Analytic Euclidean Bootstrap, JHEP 10 (2019) 270 [1808.03212].
- [64] K. Jacob, Tauberian theory: a century of developments, Springer (2004).
- [65] S. Ferrara, A. Grillo and G. Parisi, Nonequivalence between conformal covariant Wilson expansion in euclidean and Minkowski space, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 5S2 (1972) 147.
- [66] S. Ferrara, A. Grillo, G. Parisi and R. Gatto, The shadow operator formalism for conformal algebra. Vacuum expectation values and operator products, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 4S2 (1972) 115.
- [67] S. Ferrara and G. Parisi, Conformal covariant correlation functions, Nucl. Phys. B 42 (1972) 281.

- [68] S. Ferrara, A. Grillo, G. Parisi and R. Gatto, Covariant expansion of the conformal four-point function, Nucl. Phys. B 49 (1972) 77.
- [69] H. Osborn, Conformal blocks for arbitrary spins in two dimensions, Physics Letters B 718 (2012) 169.
- [70] D. Simmons-Duffin, Projectors, Shadows, and Conformal Blocks, JHEP 04 (2014) 146 [1204.3894].
- [71] D. Rutter and B.C. Van Rees, Applications of Alpha Space, 2003.07964.
- [72] A. Kleppner and R.L. Lipsman, The plancherel formula for group extensions ii, Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure Ser. 4, 6 (1973) 103.
- [73] M. Reed and B. Simon, II: Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness, vol. 2, Elsevier (1975).
- [74] L. Apolo and W. Song, Bootstrapping holographic warped CFTs or: how I learned to stop worrying and tolerate negative norms, JHEP 07 (2018) 112 [1804.10525].
- [75] D.M. Hofman and A. Strominger, Chiral Scale and Conformal Invariance in 2D Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 161601 [1107.2917].
- [76] S. Detournay, T. Hartman and D.M. Hofman, Warped Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 124018 [1210.0539].
- [77] B. Chen, P.-x. Hao and Y.-j. Liu, Supersymmetric Warped Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 065016 [2006.04112].
- [78] B. Chen, P.-X. Hao and Z.-F. Yu, 2d Galilean Field Theories with Anisotropic Scaling, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 066029 [1906.03102].
- [79] B. Chen, P. Hao, H. Liu and Z. Yu, Work in progress.
- [80] D. Mazáč, A Crossing-Symmetric OPE Inversion Formula, JHEP 06 (2019) 082 [1812.02254].
- [81] J. Nagi, Operator algebra in logarithmic conformal field theory, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 086004 [hep-th/0507242].
- [82] M. Flohr, Operator product expansion in logarithmic conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 634 (2002) 511 [hep-th/0107242].
- [83] M.A.I. Flohr, Singular vectors in logarithmic conformal field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 514 (1998) 523 [hep-th/9707090].

[84] J. Cardy, Logarithmic conformal field theories as limits of ordinary CFTs and some physical applications, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 494001 [1302.4279].